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Our values
Solidarity - Kotahitanga 

We champion members’ interests with a strong effective voice.  
We stand together, supporting and empowering members,  

individually and collectively.

Social justice - Pāpori Ture Tika 
We take a stand for decent treatment and justice.  

We embrace diversity and challenge inequality.

Integrity and respect - Te Pono me te Whakaute 
Our actions are characterised by  

professionalism, integrity and respect.

Solution focused - Otinga Arotahi 

We are a progressive and constructive union, constantly seeking  
solutions that improve members’ working lives.

Democratic - Tā te Nuinga e Whakatau ai 
We encourage participation from members. We aim to be transparent, 

accessible and inclusive in the way we work.

Our purpose
To build a union able to influence the political, economic, 
industrial and social environments in the interests of the 

membership of the PSA.
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President’s report 

A record year of growth

Looking back over the last year of activity, it comes as no 
surprise to me that it’s been a year of record growth for the 
PSA. 

While the change of Government and more union-friendly 
climate may have influenced our growth, the considerable 
mahi shown by leaders, staff, delegates, and members should 
not be overlooked. 

Intense industrial bargaining sits at the forefront of PSA 
activity every day, but 2018 saw these efforts taken to new 
levels in the form of a number of nationwide strikes. As 
nurses and teachers took to the streets for the first time 
in decades, so too did our members at enterprises such as 
Inland Revenue (IR); Ministry of Business, Innovation and 
Employment (MBIE); and Ministry of Justice (MOJ). 

The waves of industrial action shone a light on both the 
presence and power of solidarity, with thousands of members 
collectively enduring lengthy periods of industrial action. The 
resilience of members was ultimately victorious, with  
IR/MBIE and MOJ’s high-profile disputes resulting in wins. 

Further major successes were celebrated throughout the year 
as the PSA stood at the forefront of landmark advances for 
equal pay, campaigning to successfully see 2017’s historic 
settlement for care and support workers extended to include 
mental health and addiction support workers. 

Success and Congress
Another groundbreaking pay equity settlement had Oranga 
Tamariki social workers taking centre stage, the culmination 
of over three years of work since the original claim, with the 
announcement coming the first morning of the PSA Congress 
in September. 

The claimants return to Congress was met by a standing 

ovation from the floor. Standing alongside a roomful of 
passionate union delegates celebrating the hard-earned 
success of our peers was a truly powerful moment, perfectly 
exemplifying the cohesiveness of the PSA as a team united in 
our vision to transform New Zealand workplaces. 

The second day of Congress also began with a celebratory 
note, with Te Rūnanga o Ngā Toa Āwhina delegates speaking 
about a claim being made under the Mana Wahine Inquiry 
before the Waitangi Tribunal, calling out the Crown for 
failures that have relegated generations of wāhine Māori to 
low-paid jobs and vulnerable conditions. The case, which was 
filed before the Tribunal on 21 September, has since been 
officially registered by the Waitangi Tribunal as of January 
2019. 

History in the making
October saw another step forward, as a historic relationship 
and engagement agreement was signed by the leaders of 
Ngā Kaituhono, the structure for Māori PSA members within 
the Ministry of Social Development (MSD), and MSD Chief 
Executive Brendan Boyle. The agreement represents years of 
work establishing the structure for Māori within MSD, and is 
based on principles outlined in Ngā Kaupapa. 

This year has also seen many of our members appearing 
before select committees. The voice of members is crucial in 
making a union successful, and having so many take the time 
to make themselves heard is invaluable.

After an array of successes, it came as no surprise for the 
PSA to reach a major membership milestone, reaching the 
70,000-member mark in November. As we go to print we’re 
already fast approaching 75,000! 

As we move into 2020, let’s keep the momentum, because it’s 
thanks to each and every one of you that we’re able to build 
such a positive and influential union of members who are 
willing to stand together for better working lives. 
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Te Rūnanga

Kōmiti members
Te Rūnanga has its own internal structure with a 
Kōmiti made up of māngai (representatives) from 
across the PSA’s five sectors. The Kōmiti is represented 
on the PSA’s executive board.

Kiwhare Mihaka Kaumātua 
Georgina Kerr Kuia 
Marshall Tangaroa Tuakana/Public Service
Lesley Dixon Teina/District health boards
Sara Tari Community public services
Pania Love Community public services/

Rūnanga representative
Christine Hawea Community public services
Ada Paul Community public services
Allan Franks District health boards
Corina Alipate District health boards
Daniel Haines Local government
Sally Simpson Local government
Llani Harding Local government
Paula Davis Public service
Maxine Wynard Public service
John Witana Public service
Gail Arthur State sector
Alby Marsh State sector
Mel Brown State sector
Susan Young State sector
Dolly Larikins PSA organiser
Helen Panoho PSA organising administrator 

Te Rūnanga  
o Ngā Toa Āwhina

All members of the PSA who identify as Māori are 
part of Te Rūnanga o Ngā Toa Āwhina. Te Rūnanga 
represents and promotes the interests of Māori 
members. It provides a network to ensure Māori have a 
voice in the PSA, from the workplace to the union’s top 
decision-making bodies.

We believe alignment to our strategy, Ngā Kaupapa 
and its principles of Kotahitanga, Rangatiratanga, 
Kaitiakitanga, Manaakitanga, Wairuatanga, 
Whakahiato Umanga, Whānaungatanga and 
Whakamana provides unity and strength for Māori 
across our workplaces.

• As of April 2019 there  
were 1006 Māori delegates  
and 7222 Māori members.

• A major focus has been to 
maintain and strengthen 
our influence within all PSA 
enterprises. 

• Māori delegate and leadership 
development has been achieved 
through attendance at Māranga 
Mai. This has increased renewed 
interest in the delegate and sector 
mangai roles. 

• We continue to explore and work on new recruitment 
initiatives designed to encourage Māori non-members 
to join.

• Ngā Kaupapa is now well embedded in workplaces 
and provides a strong platform for Māori participation 
and engagement. Most bargaining briefs and 
bargaining strategies contain a cultural component 
that directly links to the principles of Ngā Kaupapa.

• The long-term goal is to have appropriate and relevant 
cultural clauses in all PSA Collective Agreements.         

2018-2019 Activities
Hui Taumata

Hui Taumata was held at Orongomai Marae from 22 to 24 
August 2018. There were more than 85 attendees at this hui 
and they spent two productive days strengthening delegate 
capabilities and union knowledge. The theme for this hui 
was “Ko te wāheke mai o tatou uniana I roto I te mahi - The 
future of work.”  The work completed by members is leading 
the PSA work programme for the next five years.

PSA Congress 2018

Congress was held in September 2018 and was attended by 
Māori delegates from all sectors and the Rūnanga Kōmiti. 
The theme of Congress was “The future of work”.  Māori 
delegates continue to play a key role in ensuring workplaces 
are inclusive of Te Tiriti o Waitangi principles and practices 
and workplaces remain culturally safe for all workers.  The 
Mana Wahine claim is a significant piece of work that Te 
Rūnanga O Ngā Āwhina is leading.  We launched The Mana 
Wahine claim at Congress 2018. 

Tautoko Pasefika

Te Rūnanga has been working with the Pasefika Network 
Kōmiti over the last year, to help them establish a formal 
structure. Because Te Rūnanga has been a long-established 
and influential network, we have developed many strong 
ideals as our foundation. Pasefika is one of the PSA’s fastest 
growing networks, so it is important that we collaborate and 
share our knowledge now and into the future. 



2018 - 2019: a year of growth

And the numbers:
Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Members 58,105 57,434 57,453 58,208 58,178 58,868 59,782 62,044 63,119 64,608 72,110

Annual change +3148 - 671 +19 +755 - 30 +690 +914 +2262 +973 +1489 +7502
Percentage change from 

previous year 5.73% - 1.15% 0.03% 1.31% - 0.05% 1.19% 1.55% 3.78% 1.7% 2.35% 11.61%

Membership reached 72,110 at 1 April 2019, a record increase of 7502 on the previous year!  
Recruitment remains a strong priority, with around 10,000 new members needed  

each year to maintain our current membership, due to member turnover.
All statistics below are taken at 1 April 2019.

PSA membership  
by gender

PSA delegates  
by sector

PSA membership by age

Female

Male

Intersex/unspecified 

PSA membership  
by sector

*Other includes student, life, and associate 
members, and PSA staff who are union members.

*Other includes student, life, and 
associate members, and PSA staff who 
are union members.

Community public services

District health boards

Local government

Public service

State sector

Other*

Community public services

District health boards

Local government

Public service

State sector

Other*

72%

27%0.3%

11.1%

27.4%

12.8%

11.11%

2.3%

35%

13.1%

21.9%

10.4%

10.9%

0.4%

43%

Year 19-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 >65 No data

2015 3.0% 13.4% 18.1% 24.1% 19.8% 5.2% 16.4%

2016 3.1% 13.5% 17.3% 23.3% 19.9% 5.3% 17.7%

2017 3.3% 13.8% 16.8% 23.1% 20.8% 5.5% 16.6%

2018 3.9% 14.2% 16.5% 22.5% 21.3% 6.2% 15.6%

2019 4.9% 16.3% 16.7% 21.6% 20.4% 6.0% 13.9%
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Northland
+12.4%

Auckland  
+12.8%

Waikato 
+11.8%

Taranaki 
+14.3%

Bay of Plenty 
 +12.1.9%

Gisborne 
+12.7%

Hawkes Bay 
+12.3%

Manawatu/
Whanganui
+10.9%

Wellington 
+12.6%

Marlborough
+3.6%

Canterbury
+7.6%

Chatham Islands
+71%

Otago
+8%Southland

+9.8%

West Coast
+11.8%

Tasman
+5% Nelson  

+4.6%

Membership  
growth by region

•	 Our membership has 
experienced explosive 
growth this year, with 
all regions welcoming 
many new members in 
2018-19. 

•	 Chatham Islands 
continue to have the 
highest growth rate of 
71%, growing from 7 to 
12 members.

•	 This year redundancies, 
restructures, 
retirements and people 
leaving their positions 
saw a membership 
churn of 11,299.
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The Executive Board is responsible for the governance of 
the PSA and is accountable to Congress. The board consists 
of the President, secretariat, the elected convenor of each 
sector committee, the convenor and deputy convenor of Te 
Rūnanga o Ngā Toa Āwhina, and a representative of the staff 
group. Chaired by the President, the board met six times this 
year.

A focus for the board in 2018-19 was the refreshing of our 
strategic goals, as presented at Congress. Our strategic 
goals are a powerful guide for our members, delegates, and 
staff, and are refreshed every three years so they best fit the 
changing environment in which we work. 

We wanted a clearer sense of priorities and more meaningful 
ways to measure our progress. Changes include adjustment 
of two of the goals, the use of a wharenui as the means of 
representing new goals, and the incorporation of Ngā 
Kaupapa for the first time. Use of the whare 
was chosen to create a more holistic 
representation of how we work, 
showing how our Te Tiriti o 
Waitangi commitments 
act as a foundation 
through  

Ngā Kaupapa, and that our five sectors are a central support 
to the whole. 

“Building our union” was replaced with “A strong, modern 
and influential union”, with the 2021 aim being increased 
member engagement and activity. “Transforming our 
Workplaces” is now “Transformed Work, Mana Mahi”, 
because we recognise that the workplace has 
changed in many ways. Our members 
have multiple places of work, 
and a lot of the mahi of 
our members is done 
outside of 
workplaces. 

Executive Board report

strategic goals  2018 – 2024

Kotahitanga

Wairuatanga

Rangatiratanga

Whakahiato Umanga

By 2024:
Membership of the PSA is strong 

and growing, and the union is 
resilient and sustainable.

By 2021: 
• Increased member 

engagement and activity

• More trained, resourced and 
activated delegates

• Higher density and significant 
membership increase

• Improved employment 
legislation that strengthens 
collective bargaining and 
improves protections for 
workers

• Financial targets met

By 2024:
Sustained political and public support 
for properly funded innovative public 

and community services.

By 2021: 
• Fiscal settings, including 

taxation, that support well-
funded community and public 
services

• Public sector legislation and 
approaches that strengthen 
public and community services 
and support exemplary 
employment relations

• Ongoing public and political 
support for strong public and 
community services

A strong, modern & Stronger Public 
 & Community Services

Ratonga Hapori  
Tūmatanui Kaha uniana mō te ao hurihuri 

He kaha, he whaimana, he 
influential union 

Strategic directions
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Executive Board report

strategic goals  2018 – 2024

Though the title remains the same, we are hoping 
to make real progress under the goal of “Stronger 
Public and Community Services”, because our 

goals align closely with the Government’s agenda, 
particularly in reforming our state sector legislation. 

In “Equal Pay”, we concluded the Oranga Tamariki 
social workers’ case and extended the care and 

support settlement to mental health 
and addiction support workers. 

We initiated claims for DHB 
admin and clerical 

workers and 
social 

workers, as well as admin and clerical and other social 
services workers in the community.

A commitment to advancing the principles of Te Tiriti 
forms the stable and strong base to our whare, with 
principles of Ngā Kaupapa woven through every aspect of 
the goals.

Congress 2018 was not only the launching pad for the 
revised goals, but also voted to institutionalise youth 
representation across the PSA governance structure with 
full voting rights, and to amend our rules enabling us to 
support and organise contractors. We are excited at the 
possibility of these new areas helping to drive increased 
diversity amongst members, and preparedness for the 
future of the union movement. 

During the year, the board approved a revised values 
statement for the union and adopted a broad 

policy on tax. Consistent with our policy 
on tax, we also agreed to provide 

financial assistance to Tax 
Justice Aotearoa’s 

campaign for 
a capital 

gains 
tax.

Kaitiakitanga

Whānaungatanga

Rangatiratanga

Whakahiato Umanga

Manaakitanga

Whakamana

By 2024:
Work is transformed so it’s valued  

and secure, members have influence 
through strong collective voice.

By 2021: 
• PSA members have greater 

influence in their workplaces and 
sectors through mechanisms 
that promote collective voice, 
including High Performance 
through High Engagement: high 
trust and effectiveness

• Workplace violence, bullying 
and harassment are minimised: 
healthy and safe

• Better pay, fairer workloads and 
security in all forms of work: fair 
and secure

By 2024:
All PSA members are paid  

equally for work of equal value.

By 2021: 
• Female-dominated 

occupational claims settled in 
every sector of the PSA

• Clear implementation of 
the Gender Pay Principles, 
including the elimination of 
all gender and ethnic pay 
discrimination

• Improved Equal Pay 
legislation

Utu Ōrite Mana Mahi
Transformed Work Equal Pay

Strategic directions
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Equal Pay 
Utu Ōrite

In the last year
We now have 1542 equal pay advocates signed up, seeing 
a large increase from the DHB sector following the filing 
of our pay equity claims for administration, allied and 
nursing.

The development of the Gender Pay Principles by the State 
Services Commission/Union-led Joint Working Group has 
been nominated for a Public Service Spirit of Service 
Award under the Good Governance section. 
This is a major vote of confidence in a 
joint union/employer approach to work 
and union engagement. 

The Care and Support Settlement 
was extended to mental health 
and addiction support workers 
and backdated to July 2017. 
PSA is collaborating with the 
Human Rights Commission on a 
campaign for pay transparency.

A claim was lodged for social 
workers in Oranga Tamariki 
which saw them gain pay increases 
of up to 30%. This was paid out in 
December 2018 and is due to recur in 
December 2019. The claim had a flow on 
effect, with other occupations within Oranga 
Tamariki to realise increases as a result.

The State Sector Ministerial Oversight Group identified 
imminent pay equity claims across the Community Public 
Services (CPS) sector for administration and clerical and 
social workers and welfare support workers. A steering 
group is being formed with representatives from each group.

Pay Equity Principles
A joint report to the State Sector Oversight Group 
identified imminent claims for directly employed state 
sector administrative and clerical, welfare support and 
support workers. As well, claims exist for social workers, 
administration and clerical, support workers and those 
working in the state funded social services sector.

Mana Wahine
The Mana Wahine claim was formally accepted by the 
Waitangi Tribunal and is the first step in addressing the pay 
gap for Māori women. Legal aid has been granted to our 
claimants.

We are expecting an announcement mid-2019 from the 
Minister for Women to announce additional funding for 

progressing the Crown’s engagement with the Mana Wahine 
Kaupapa Inquiry. 

The Ministry for Women and Te Puni Kōkiri are ready 
to establish a team to lead and coordinate the Crown’s 
involvement in the inquiry. It is expected that the joint 
team will work alongside the inquiry with the goal of 
transforming policy and services to deliver for wahine 

Māori. The PSA is hoping to access some of this 
funding to assist in our research.

Health
For DHB administration and clerical 

workers, the bargaining team 
will present a petition, currently 
consisting of more than 12,000 
signatures, to Parliament in 
April 2019. Following this, we 
plan to make a submission 
to the Parliamentary Health 
Committee. A claim for Allied 

Health is underway, in the 
process of establishing the terms of 

reference for a pay equity process. It is 
a complex piece of work due to the large 

number of occupations covered.

PSA has two equal pay claims related to nursing 
(Auckland and Rest of NZ) which have been consolidated 
in line with the NZNO nurses claim. A joint working group 
has been established along with a project plan outlining 
locations and roles to be interviewed.

Gender Pay Principles
Freedom from bias and discrimination, transparency and 
accessibility, acknowledging the relationship between 
paid and unpaid work, sustainability, participation and 
engagement

Policies and practices across the state sector now need to 
be in line with the Gender Pay Principles. There is a joint 
working group with representation from unions, the SSC 
and agencies that is developing guidance to assist agencies 
to operate in accordance with the principles. Each agency is 
also required to develop a gender pay action plan to identify 
possible contributors to the gender pay gap in the agency 
and take steps to rectify this. The Gender Pay Principles 
state that this must be done jointly with PSA. Organisers 
have been asked to table and negotiate into collective 
agreements, a clause that will operationalise the principles.
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Transformed Work
Mana Mahi

Transformed Work (TW) is the PSA’s strategic commitment 
towards transforming work to create better working 
lives for members. The TW agenda is categorised by 
five strands, meaning a transformed workplace should 
be: healthy and safe, trustworthy and effective, fair and 
secure, personalised, and have opportunities for career 
development. 

In the last year, the TW agenda was progressed in many 
workplaces. Examples are below, with additional detail on 
these to be found in the sector reports. 

The PSA’s core work in collective bargaining sits largely 
within the fair and secure workplaces strand, where we 
aim to ensure members have fair and decent working 
conditions, along with a secure future. Throughout 2018-19 
we continued to achieve delinking of pay and performance 
in a number of enterprises, such as influencing the Ministry 
of Justice to move away from a contentious pay matrix. 

The PSA is working closely with the Council of Trade 
Unions to support the introduction of Fair Pay Agreements 
(FPAs). Industry bargaining has been proven internationally 
to reduce inequality within society. In tandem with this, we 
continue to advocate for a Living Wage across New Zealand.

Progress has been made in the areas of flexible work, 

inclusivity and diversity was made by changes to PSA rules, 
opening membership to contractors. Activities have begun 
in this area, and will continue into the next financial year. 

The PSA has continued to advocate for a High Performance 
High Engagement (HPHE) model through a number of 
workplaces, with increased worker input on how this 
work is done. This work has begun at Ministry of Social 
Development, Department of Corrections, Department 
of Conservation and some DHBs. There has been a focus 
on engaging with DHBs to establish high-performing 
workplaces for DHB members. Guidelines for an HPHE 
model has been agreed between unions and the DHBs 
through the Health Sector Relationship Agreement Steering 
Group. The PSA is now using the HPHE process in a few 
projects, with discussions underway to identify further 
projects to work on within an HPHE framework.  

The PSA has regularly voiced disappointment at the 
persistence of undesirable behaviour in workplaces. 
Progress in this area is underway, with the PSA’s approach 
to workplace bullying and harassment. Poor workplace 
culture is often at the heart of undesirable and bullying 
behaviour and a collective approach is fundamental to 
changing this. 
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In the last year
The election of a Labour-led Government in October 2017 
signalled the potential for a change in the funding and 
delivery of public and community services in New Zealand.  
Reviews of our health, mental health, education, state welfare, 
tax and justice systems over the last 12 months have provided 
important opportunities for PSA members to influence the 
nature, shape, form and function of our future community 
and public services. In particular, the Mental Health and 
Addiction Inquiry, and Health and Disability System review 
as well as the Welfare Expert Advisory Group offered ample 
opportunities for PSA involvement. We are also monitoring 
the progress of the Royal Commission into Historic Abuse.

Many of these reviews – in particular the review of the State 
Sector Act and of mental health addiction services – have 
come about in part because of our campaigning and lobbying 
activities.  We have long advocated for a shift away from the 
managerialism of the State Sector Act – which we argue 
contributed to division of the state sector – and towards a 
unified public service.  The Government’s proposed Public 
Service legislation will go a long way towards achieving this 
goal.  Members’ voices and experiences, through our PSA and 
Te Rūnanga submissions, have influenced the Government’s 
decisions on reform.  We will continue to meet with the new 
State Services commission representatives to consult on 
the new legislation and shape the reforms as they move to 
implementation.

Mental Health
The inquiry into Mental Health and Addiction was a direct 
result of our Yes We Care campaign in the lead up to the 
2017 election, highlighting the systemic weaknesses in 
mental health and addiction services. Our mental health 
and addiction committee’s submission highlighted a need 

to address workforce shortages, ensure safe staffing and to 
engage with staff on how to improve services. Above all, the 
submission stressed that early intervention through fully 
funded and resourced mental health in the primary health 
sector is required, as well as meeting basic human needs such 
as adequate housing, and social and cultural connections.  

Submissions to these reviews are underpinned by common 
themes: strong public and community services are essential 
to the health and wellbeing of our communities and to deliver 
these depends on workers to have decent working conditions 
including fair wages, safe and healthy workplaces, and strong 
worker engagement. 

Government Relations
We have advocated that community and public services need 
to be more responsive to Māori and we are pleased to see that 
this Government is starting to recognise the principles of Te 
Titiri and including accountability in legislation. We strongly 
argue that public and community services need more funding 
to meet the needs of our growing population, which cannot 
be achieved under current budget restraints. We joined with 
many other submitters to the Tax Working Group, to promote 
a fairer tax system – including a Capital Gains Tax, arguing 
that its current fiscal settings will not be enough to maintain 
high-quality public services. Mitigating the challenges posed 
by growing inequality and the climate crisis in a just and 
sustainable way will require expanded public services and a 
shift in the way we tax wealth.

The reviews have kept us busy, but are an important 
part of our democratic process. We have welcomed an 
acknowledgement by this Government that it is the 
individuals, families, whānau and communities using our 
public and community services, and the workers delivering 
them, who understand these services best. 

Stronger Public and Community Services
Ratonga Hapori Tūmatanui Kaha 
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The PSA recognises that environmental issues are union 
issues. Our purpose is to build an organisation able 
to influence industrial, economic, political and social 
environments to advance the interest of members. Also, 
that those interests include a sustainable future. 
We are committed to combining sustainable 
practices into our daily business as 
usual, as well as supporting campaigns 
promoting the same.

Our commitment to sustainability 
is bolstered by our commitment to 
Te Tiriti o Waitangi, encompassing 
the principles of kaitiakitanga 
(upholding our responsibilities), 
manaakitanga (caring for our 
people), and rangatiratanga (showing 
leadership). 

This focus on sustainability has seen a large 
increase in activity. Sustainable initiatives have 
been the result of the rebranding and subsequent growth 
of the Eco Network (refer to the Eco Network report for 
more details), as well as in response to growing awareness 
of climate change. 

In 2018-19, the PSA Investment Committee implemented 
changes to policy to exclude direct investment into fossil 
fuels and other environmentally damaging investments. 

General Investment Principles were also incorporated 
into the policy, requiring best efforts be made 

to make investments consistent with our 
policy.  The Investment Committee also 

committed to continue to work with 
the Eco Network and Staff Eco Action 
on these matters.

We have continued to engage with 
business, environmental groups, 
government, and other unions on 
the Just Transition framework for a 

fair and sustainable shift to a low-
carbon economy. A Just Transitions 

Summit is set to be held in Taranaki 
later this year, at which the PSA will be 

represented. The PSA also expressed its support 
for the school strike for climate in March.

As the PSA Eco Network grows, emphasis will be placed on 
developing improved internal sustainability initiatives, for 
example, through trialling electric fleet vehicles. 

Sustainability 

In an historic first for the PSA, this year we lodged a 
Waitangi Tribunal Claim Wai 2864 on behalf of Te 
Rūnanga O Ngā Toa Āwhina. This calls on the Crown 
to address inequities in employment suffered 
by wāhine Māori. The claim raises treaty 
breaches that have relegated generations 
of wāhine Māori to low-paid jobs with 
vulnerable work.  These include the 
Crown's failure to provide education 
which adequately prepares wāhine 
Māori for employment, and to 
eliminate bias and discrimination 
in the workplace.

The claim was lodged 21st 
September 2018 by Georgina Kerr, 
Paula Davis, Llani Harding and 
William Newton, alongside the Claim 
lawyer Tania Te Whenua on behalf of Te 
Rūnanga O Ngā Toa Āwhina. It highlights 
the concerns faced by wāhine Māori in 
employment. The Waitangi Tribunal have agreed to 
hear the claim.

Regular meetings are organised with the claimants, and 

work is underway on engaging with members across 
the PSA on breaches of the Treaty and to undertake 
research. We are hopeful a rumoured multi-million-dollar 

funding announcement is made later this year. It 
is to be made available over four years, to 

progress the Crown's engagement with 
the Waitangi Tribunal’s Mana Wahine 

Kaupapa Inquiry.  Part of the funding 
may support collaboration and 
research with claimants and other 
Māori groups, and we are hoping 
to access some of this to assist our 
research.

Most of the preparation for this 
claim is underway. We will aim 

for the claimants to engage with 
delegates during the Sector Hui, so 

that delegates can share information 
with the wider membership. In addition, 

we are developing a member survey to capture 
members’ experiences of inequities. Gathering members’ 
experiences as evidence will be crucial in supporting the 
claim. 

Mana Wahine Waitangi Tribunal Claim
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Implementation of Ngā Kaupapa has been a steady journey 
across our union, and as part of Te Rūnanga strategy, it is 
pleasing to see there has been some really positive work 
enacted by PSA reps for Ngā Kaupapa.

While this work comes with some challenges, we realise it 
will take time to fully embed and engage with employers 
on the kaupapa. Some sectors are progressing well, 
while others have taken a more measured approach to 
implementing Ngā Kaupapa for their sectors. 

There has been an increase in this work in all sectors 
though, primarily through collective bargaining, where 
the focus has been on engaging with employers on Ngā 

Kaupapa. There is also a focus on values that enhance the 
principles of participation, protection and partnership. This 
work includes the implementation of Te Tiriti o Waitangi 
and Māori tikanga clauses in collective agreements. There 
is a focus too, on the strengthening of existing clauses, to 
secure engagements and the inclusion of Ngā Kaupapa in 
collective agreements.

Some sectors have concentrated efforts on educating on 
Ngā Kaupapa, engaging in conversations and discussions 
with employers. This is both to ensure they are meeting 
their obligations under the Treaty, and are using Ngā 
Kaupapa as a vehicle to ensure their commitment to Māori. 

Ngā Kaupapa

Strategic directions

Kotahitanga 
Unity and Solidarity
Unity as Māori people as we embrace 
our culture and beliefs. Through 
whakapapa and Whānaungātanga we 
demonstrate kotahitanga.

Rangatiratanga Empowering 
Māori Leadership
Rangatiratanga is a developed 
understanding and delivery of 
kaupapa Māori promoting culture, 
tikanga and Te Reo Māori within 
the workplace.

Kaitiakitanga Protection 
of Māori to secure fair 
working conditions
Kaitiakitanga promotes guardianship of 
all things Māori that hold spiritual and cultural 
significance in our tikanga practices including Te Reo 
Māori.

Manaakitanga Health and Wellbeing
Manaakitanga helps us to demonstrate through 
having the support mechanisms of whānau, hapū and 
iwi to promote a healthy, safe and well-being culture 
for Māori workers in the workplace.  

Wairuatanga Cultural Behaviour
Māori believe in and acknowledge the spiritual 

realm that holds significance to our culture 
and for us as Māori. Through cultural 

awareness, recognition of tikanga 
and kawa we are able to demonstrate 

strong cultural values in the workplace.

Whakahiato Umanga 
Career Development

We are committed to ensure there 
are ongoing opportunities for 

good career aspirations for Māori 
and that access to learning and 
development opportunities are 

available.

Whānaungātanga 
Personalise Whānau

Embraces whakapapa with a focus on 
building strong workplace relationships that support 
individuals, connections to iwi, hapū, whānau and 
relatives.  

Whakamana Effectiveness
Promotes development of strong Māori capability 
across all sectors of the union to support strong 
engagement and empowerment with managers in the 
workplace.

For more information go to www.psa.org.nz/nga-kaupapa
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The CPS Sector is just eight years old, yet is fast growing 
and is already the third largest sector in the PSA with an 
increase of 6.6% to membership. As a new sector, our aim 
is to better develop our delegate structures and capacity to 
meet the needs of more members.

CPS has more collective agreements than any other sector, 
meaning we are constantly bargaining. Our work is having 
an impact, with pay continuing to improve and member-
only benefits rising. We achieved our first-time collective 
agreement at Geneva Healthcare, this new collective 
agreement became one of the best in the area of home 
support. 

The last landmark equal pay settlement for care and 
support workers was finally extended to mental health 
and addiction support workers. While working to ratify this 
agreement we held over 200 worker meetings.  

CPS members were heavily involved in the mental health 
campaign, which had many members meet with the 
Mental Health and Addiction Inquiry panel.

Our fight for equal pay was won for home support and 
disability workers last year and this year mental health 
and addiction support workers. In the coming year we will 
focus on social service workers, such as social workers, 
admin clerical, and support worker roles.  

We have renegotiated and signed a new worker 
participation agreement at Healthcare NZ. We are still 
working through the implementation of guaranteed hours 
for home support workers. 

We held the second CPS emerging leaders course where 
we invited leaders from across the sector to come together 
and have further training.

At Healthcare NZ, we secured the sector’s first Whānau, 
Hapū, Hui, Wānanga or cultural obligations clause.

Low investment across the sector is still a key challenge. 
Our focus for the year ahead is to build our collective 
impact by continuing to work with client advocacy and 
umbrella groups, increase our reach, and amplify the views 
of our members.

Community Public Services  
Rātonga Mahi ā Hāpori
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District Health Boards  
Pōari Hauora ā Rohe

The District Health Boards (DHB) Sector has seen strong 
membership growth, with a 12% increase for the year 
taking our membership to nearly 20,000. Growth has 
been experienced in all three Multi-Employer Collective 
Agreement (MECA) coverage areas, Clerical Administration, 
Allied and technical, Public Health, and Nursing.

Growth in Clerical Administration membership can be 
attributed to our pay equity campaign and good bargaining 
outcomes in the MECAs settled so far. Nursing membership 
grew, but not by a large number as membership density 
in this area is reasonably high. Strongest growth was 
experienced in the Allied Public Health and Technical 
MECA areas, attributable to good bargaining outcomes.  

This has been an amazing result, thanks to the hard work by 
our delegates and organisers who have had a willingness to 
try new recruitment initiatives. We also managed to achieve 
growth in delegate numbers.

Last year, all our eight MECAs expired. Of these, six have 
been re-settled and implemented. The two that expired 
in January and February this year have been successfully 
bargained and are waiting for the ratification process to 
be completed. The outcomes achieved this year have seen 
substantial pay increases and improvements to allowances. 
Apart from the MECAs, several SECAs have also been 
bargained. Most of these have had similar pay increases 
to those in the MECAs. In most instances the MECAs and 
SECAs have been settled for a three-year term. 

A key feature of our bargaining was to advance our Ngā 
Kaupapa strategy. While we have not managed to get all 
employers to agree to the clauses we wanted, agreement 
has been reached to continue discussions with managers 
of Māori Services in DHBs to enhance our relationship 
and discuss our Ngā Kaupapa strategy with them. We have 
changed the look of our MECAs, by having a Māori  art cover 
page designed for and gifted to the DHBs and PSA for these. 
We have included a Whakatauaki at the start of our Allied 
Public Health and Technical MECA.  

We have lodged five pay equity claims on behalf our 
members covered by Nursing, Clerical Administration and 
Allied Public Health and Technical members. Work on the 
Clerical Administration claim has progressed well in that 
we have concluded the interviews for the claimants and are 

planning to interview the comparator roles. 

Our nursing claim has been consolidated with NZNO’s 
as it overlaps, and will jointly be managed between us. 
Engagement structures, interview locations and timelines 
for the claimant interviews are being planned currently. We 
are finalising the terms of reference for the Allied Public 
Health and Technical claim. 

We are continuing to engage with DHBs to establish high-
performing workplaces through increased input through 
HPHE. Guidelines for HPHE have been agreed between 
the unions and the DHBs through the Health Sector 
Relationship Agreement (HSRA).

The HSRA also oversaw guidelines for a Worker Participation 
Agreement, recommending the use of partner organisation 
Worksafe representatives as a provider have been negotiated 
and will form the basis of WPA agreements with DHBs. 

Workloads and safe staffing levels continue to be a 
significant issue for members. We have been involved in 
several disputes to ensure that our members have safe 
and manageable workloads. Through collective bargaining 
outcomes we have agreed with DHBs to help minimise 
violence in mental health workplaces through safer staffing 
numbers. We have agreed to participate in the CCDM process 
and an escalation process to manage workloads. 

The PSA has continued to engage with the Ministry of Health 
and other agencies to ensure that the recommendations of 
the He Ara Oranga are implemented. We have engaged with 
our members on the Health and Disability System Review 
and made submissions on members views of what needs to 
change to create a better health service. 
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The Local Government Sector has seen strong membership 
growth with a 6% increase over the last year, taking our 
membership to over 8000. This has been an amazing result 
due to hard work by our organisers and delegates. This year 
there has been a focus on recruitment and a willingness 
to try new initiatives, including recruitment barbecues, 
bargaining for member-only benefits and sharing successes 
across the sector. We have also managed to achieve growth 
in workplace delegate numbers with an increase of 17 in the 
past year.

Regional delegate forums continue to be a feature, focusing 
on building the relationship between sector representatives 
and local delegates. The meetings are an annual event 
and are well supported and attended. Forums are held 
across both islands from Kerikeri to Invercargill. Our Local 
Government Sector Committee continues to deliver for 
members, with a fresh approach and agenda for meetings, 
which has been well received by delegates. 

Bargaining in the sector is constant and complex. Last 
year, collectives in our four major councils were renewed 
with member-only benefits negotiated in all of these, 
which assisted our membership growth. In total, 29 
collectives were successfully negotiated with a wide 
range of settlements, reflecting the diverse nature of our 
organisations. Terms ranged from one to three years with 
increases from 1.5% to 7% and six collectives settled with 
member-only benefits. 

The focus on bargaining Ngā Kaupapa clauses has been a 
real success story, with 11 of the collectives containing Ngā 
Kaupapa clauses – a significant achievement for our sector. 
A key feature for organisers and delegates in bargaining was 
to advance our Ngā Kaupapa strategy which has resulted 
in substantial gains in this area. An example of this work is 
Auckland Council, that has negotiated a number of specific 
Ngā Kaupapa clauses including renaming all clauses in the 
collective in Te Reo Māori. 

The sector has been the subject of major reviews 
including The Three Waters and a funding review run by 
the Productivity Commission. The PSA policy team has 
developed submissions in all areas currently under review 
in consultation with our sector committee members. 

We also submitted on the Local Government (Community 

Local Government  
Kāwanatanga-ā-Rohe

Well-being) Amendment Act 2019, which saw the 
restoration of the four well-beings into the Local 
Government Act – social, economic, cultural and 
environmental.

The PSA took a big step forward in its campaign to achieve 
equal pay for library assistants working in local government 
this year. Endorsement came from the Library Panel and 
sector committee, for our strategy to progress an equal 
pay claim for library assistants. The agreed strategy is to 
target the six largest councils and invite them to work 
jointly with us to resolve the historical gender-based pay 
discrimination. We have received a positive response from 
all six councils, which is a huge achievement and provides 
us with a mechanism to resolve this without having to file a 
legal claim.
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With over 24,000 members, Public Service remains our largest 
sector, representing 34% of our total membership. This year 
has been a significant one for the sector, given the change of 
Government. 

As of 31 March, the sector has 24,147 members across 39 
enterprises, with total growth of 2070 members. Growth has 
been fairly consistent across the sector, with the biggest spikes 
seen leading to, during and immediately after bargaining 
negotiations. Often this is driven by a recruitment window 
during the ratification period, incentivised by member-only 
benefits.

We have established new tripartite and bipartite arrangements, 
in particular the State Sector Leadership Team/PSA Strategic 
Forum comprised of the PSA, State Services Commission 
(SSC), and chief executive representatives. This forum operates 
on a tripartite basis with the support of the Minister of State 
Services. The forum has formed an agreed work programme 
reflecting our goals, notably developing standards for terms 
and conditions of employment applicable sector-wide and 
promoting high performance high engagement (HPHE) in 
agencies. The process for carrying out this work is currently in 
development.

Main areas of growth have been in the Ministries of Social 
Development; Justice; Business, Innovation and Employment; 
Primary Industries; and Education, along with the 
Departments of Corrections and Conservation. Specifically, 
sustained growth was seen in the Ministry of Justice leading 
up to and during a prolonged period of industrial action. The 
Department of Corrections continued its trend of growth that 
has been ongoing for the last few years, largely attributed to 
effective membership drives at orientation events. 

This year has seen a significant level of bargaining. Industrial 
action was prominent in Inland Revenue, MBIE and MOJ, with 
focuses on pay and pay systems. MBIE and MOJ both achieved 
positive outcomes, with an agreed step-based pay system in 
MOJ and an agreed process to develop this model in MBIE.  

We have organised around proposed changes to the State 
Sector Act, with an increased emphasis being placed on Te 
Tiriti and Crown/Māori  relations. Rūnanga representatives 
met with the State Services Commission, before participating 
in a hui established to receive feedback from government 

agencies.

In negotiations, progress has been made with embedding 
Ngā Kaupapa principles within collective agreements and 
engagement agreements. In the Ministry of Justice, an 
agreement was reached to host a hui for Māori  staff and 
to establish a joint oversight group for development and 
implementation of Te Haerenga, MOJ’s Māori  strategy. 

A significant development was achieved by Ngā Kaitūhono, 
the structure for Māori PSA members within MSD, through the 
signing of an historic engagement agreement based on Te Ao 
Māori and the principles of Ngā Kaupapa.

As a PSA-wide initiative, we have been active with the Mana 
Wahine claim, and have made submissions on Maihi Karauna, 
the Crown’s Strategy for Māori Language Revitalisation, with 
an emphasis on building Te Reo Māori capability across the 
sector. 

Through the year we have participated in a number of 
initiatives affecting our members. We have contributed 
submissions on the State Sector Act reform, the Safe and 
Effective Justice reform, the Education sector reform, the 
Francis Review of Parliamentary Agencies, and the Welfare 
Review. 

We are hopeful that legislation changes to the Employment 
Relations Act will see an increase in early membership, with 
all employers being legally obligated to provide prospective 
employees with information about unions with collective 
agreements in their workplace.  

Public service also saw a major success in the equal pay 
arena through successfully reaching an offer of a pay equity 
settlement for social workers at Oranga Tamariki. This victory 
was hard earned, dating back to a claim lodged by the PSA in 
November 2015. We are hopeful the process used for reaching 
this settlement and its application of the principles of the 
Pay Equity Joint Working Group could represent a model for 
progressing future pay equity claims.

We have also been working with agencies on the development 
and monitoring of Gender Pay Action Plans, as part of a 
broader goal to apply the Gender Pay Principles and are 
continuing to pursue equal pay issues in bargaining on behalf 
of members.

Public Service  
Rātonga Mahi ā te Kāwanatanga
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As in other sectors, PSA’s representation in the state sector 
has spiked over the last year, with a 6% increase to 8308 
members. This year has also seen us expand our influence 
into additional enterprises, now totalling 169. This last 
year has reversed the sector’s 1% per annum decline in 
previous years.

Recent activity the sector has supported includes 
engagement with the State Services Commission regarding 
state sector reform, campaigns for the entrenchment of 
Māori seats, the Crown’s 
Maihi Karauna Māori 
language strategy and 
the Waitangi Tribunal’s 
acceptance of the Mana 
Wahine claim. 

We are starting to 
engage on future 
of work projects, as 
significant changes to 
the technology used for 
work is beginning to 
emerge.  Our focus here 
is ensuring that we have 
good jobs and smooth 
transitions for our members. Ngā Kaupapa principles 
supporting PSA’s commitment to Te Tiriti continue to 
gain momentum and have been included in a number of 
collective agreements.

Bargaining in this sector remains constant and complex, 
in 2018-19 we negotiated 35 collective agreements. 
Organisers are reporting improved outcomes compared 
to previous years, where the variety of organisations 
and funding mechanisms across this sector has meant 
that success in one enterprise can be hard to translate to 
others. While pay systems remain a problem across much 
of the sector, under the current Government, employers 
are being encouraged to take a more pragmatic approach 
to bargaining. A new law has helped us get more pay 
outcomes and better pay systems into agreements.

Pay equity was an issue discussed in all sector bargaining. 
Discussions with members and employers helped lay the 
groundwork for equal pay claims to begin in the next year. 

Maritime NZ has led the way and established a gender 
equity working party. 

Bargaining successes have tended to be in remuneration, 
coverage, leave entitlements and allowances. Accident 
Compensation Corporation’s (ACC) proposed restructure 
saw members involved in several submissions, with the 
positive effect on recruitment increasing membership 
here by three times. Aviation Security negotiations went 

very smoothly with a 
well-accepted outcome, 
as opposed to the 2016 
round where industrial 
action was threatened. 
At Housing New 
Zealand, we successfully 
negotiated for the 
removal of performance-
based pay, and a 
member-only bonus, 
as well as improved 
leave entitlements. 
AssureQuality achieved 
pay outcomes of up to 
2.9% each year for three 
years. 

We have made input on two major reviews that are likely 
to bring change for members within the education sector. 
A number of organisations including NZQA and TEC may 
be affected by the planned changes to Tomorrow’s Schools 
and the Reform of Vocational Education. 

In the enterprises representing science, a decade of flat 
core funding is a continuing issue. In these organisations 
membership density averages around 50%. Negotiations 
are a challenge due to variation amongst Crown Research 
Institutes. 

Within the tertiary sector, in collaboration with the 
Tertiary Education Union (TEU) we achieved pay 
increases, movement towards a living wage minimum 
and union only entitlements. In this area though, we have 
noticed a trend towards centralising of services across 
universities, with long-serving staff being targeted for 
voluntary redundancy.

State Sector 
Rāngai Tūmatanui
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Communications
The communications team is responsible for ensuring 
members across the union are kept updated on the work of 
the PSA through a variety of channels.

The team produces a range of internally and externally 
distributed materials, including the quarterly magazine 
Working Life, the monthly PSA news and various network 
and sector newsletters. Highlights of the last year included 
developing materials and resources for various nationwide 
campaigns and planning the 2018 Congress.

Print resources continue to be used for both industrial 
and campaigning purposes, as well as recruitment. Digital 
communications make up a significant component of our 

work, with members being kept up to date through the 
website and social media. Our social presence is continuing 
to grow, with increasing activity on the official Facebook and 
Twitter pages, as well as through the use of network and 
sector-specific Facebook groups. 

A survey is currently being prepared to gather feedback of 
members’ experiences with our communication outputs, 
the first of such surveys since 2015. Depending on the 
findings, the team will spend the next year adjusting the 
major communications channels to best suit the needs of 
both current and prospective members. 2018-19 has also 
seen continued work on the PSA app, with plans to launch 
the app later in the year. 

Growth
The PSA’s strength comes from the depth and breadth of 
its membership. Every year, for us to maintain our level 
of influence in workplaces, we need to recruit 10,000 new 
members.

The PSA growth team, first established two years ago, 
currently consists of four recruiters. The way the team 
works has changed over the last two years. We originally had 
two staff doing phone recruitment, while the now defunct 
benefits team (an external contracted provider) focused on 
on-site recruitment. The on-site recruitment was brought in-
house and the growth team now does phone recruitment, on-
site recruitment, delegate support, and education and online 
recruitment, plus a degree of strategic planning. 

As a result of a law change to the Employment Relations Act 
in December 2018, planning is underway for employers to 
be required to supply new employees with an Active Choice 
form, which will then be completed by the employee and sent 
through to the PSA. The aim is that these new-start details 
will be provided to the growth team via a report and will be 
the basis for phone recruitment activity. 

A new text authority system has been a game-changer in 
helping members pay their fees. A member can simply reply 
‘YES’ to a text to authorise fee deductions. This process 
was first employed with our non-financial members with 
considerable success.  

On-site recruitment opportunities are frequently presented 
by organisers wanting to take advantage of a member-only 
payment from conclusion of bargaining, or a long-term 
campaign that may revolve around equal pay, for example, 
the DHB administration and clerical staff equal pay claim.  

The growth team’s success is supported by the effort and 
energy of organisers and delegates around the country who 
also recruit new members. 

Information technology
The PSA’s IT team consists of four staff working across 
technology-related disciplines. Hardware, software, 
procurement and processes are managed by the team, 
alongside administration of PSA properties and physical 
assets. The team works to support PSA staff to best use 
InfoTech resources to perform their roles and ensure we 
continue to develop into a modern and efficient union.  

Over the last year, considerable effort went into developing 
a new interoffice network. The new network has increased 

speed and reduced cost, which has enabled us to move some 
infrastructure applications into the Azure cloud. 

This year we are replacing the main PSA data servers. These 
will have a life of three to four years. During that operation 
time, research into further use of cloud-based technologies 
will take place.

We have also developed a network for the PSAPlus Holiday 
Homes and some of the locations have been moved to high-
speed fibre connections. The reduced cost has enabled us to 
offer free unlimited internet connections at all the locations. 
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Legal
The PSA’s legal team advises on bargaining, disciplinary 
investigations, enforcement of collective agreements and 
changes to employment legislation. The team represents 
the PSA and its members in legal proceedings in 
employment, ACC, and before professional bodies. 

The team supports members who have been unjustifiably 
dismissed, disadvantaged or faced discrimination in 
their work, and also offers training for officials on 
changes to legislation.

Legal has welcomed an additional 
member to the team this year, and 
now comprises four lawyers and 
administrative support. 

Personal Cases
The legal team offers 
significant support to 
individual PSA members 
facing unfair treatment 
at work or dismissal. This 
year the team worked 
alongside our organisers on 
345 personal cases including 
personal grievances, Holidays 
Act claims, ACC issues, 
unlawful fixed-term agreements, 
bullying and other employment 
investigations.

Bargaining & Legislative Change
Advising on all aspects of collective bargaining, this year 
the team successfully defended a challenge from the 
Ministry of Justice, seeking to stop the highly effective 
“lightning strikes” our members were holding around 
the country (Secretary for Justice, for and on behalf of 
the Ministry of Justice V New Zealand Public Service 
Association [2018] NZEmpC 129). This was an important 
win for the union movement and saw the Employment 
Court confirm members’ “substantial right to strike”. 

The legal team has also worked on submissions on behalf 
of the PSA on the Employment Relations Amendment Act 
2018, the Equal Pay Amendment Bill 2018 and the Support 
Workers (Pay Equity) Settlements Amendment Bill 2019.

Equal Pay
A historic equal pay case for social workers employed 
by Oranga Tamariki (formerly CYF) was settled this year 
without the need for litigation. This was first filed by the 
PSA on behalf of three social workers in 2015.

The PSA has a number of current claims 
seeking equal pay for groups of 

female-dominated areas including 
social workers, mental health 

support staff, care and support 
workers, and women who 

work throughout the state 
sector. The team also gave 
advice on the equal pay 
process for librarians and 
administration and clerical 
workers.

Contractual Disputes 
& Restructuring 

In the last year, the team 
pursued a number of disputes 

to enforce the provisions of 
collective agreements on a range 

of issues including redundancy 
entitlements, hours of work, payment of 

allowances, parental leave and retiring leave.

Advising on restructuring is part of the team's role, 
particularly where employment entitlements are unfairly 
threatened. This year they had success in seeking fair 
outcomes for several members facing restructuring and 
redundancy, including three local government cases, 
Auckland Council v Robin Drought [2019] NZEmpC 63, 
Gregory Murphy v Auckland Council [2018] NZERA 281, 
and Warren Warbrick v Te Manawa Museums Trust [2019] 
NZERA 80.

Organising Centre
The PSA Organising Centre continues to provide advice 
and assistance to members, dealing with general enquiries, 
employment relationship problems and personal cases.  

The centre provides information on membership, 
clarification of employment agreements and New Zealand 
employment law, signs up new members over the phone, 
and acts in lieu of delegates for sites where that role is not 
filled.  

Located at our National Office in Wellington, Organising 
Centre staff engage in ongoing development to improve 

their ability to support members and delegates. Over 
the past year that has included; training in Safe Talk and 
Victoria University’s Employment Agreements: Bargaining 
Trends & Employment Law Update seminar.

Centre staff have taken on several new responsibilities, 
including contacting new members who are non-financial 
and assisting them to become financial via text, answering 
queries that come in via new channels, and coordinating 
vehicle logistics at National Office.

Available Monday – Friday, 8:30am – 5:00pm, the 
Organising Centre can be contacted either by free phone 
(0508 367 772) or by email (enquiries@psa.org.nz).
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Policy 
The policy team supports advocacy of members’ interests 
to ensure PSA members are heard in as many forums as 
possible. The team’s work has intensified since the change 
in Government in response to a raft of new reviews and 
inquiries, as well as new opportunities for the PSA on 
agendas such as equal pay.  

This last year, highlights include making submissions 
on the State Sector and Crown Entities Reform Bill and 
the equal pay campaign for Oranga Tamariki. We have 

represented PSA in contributing to the ongoing Government 
Mental Health and Addiction Inquiry and the Welfare 
Expert Advisory Group consultation. 

The team analyses and responds to draft legislation, 
advocating members’ interests in parliamentary select 
committees, at events and as part of PSA campaigns. The 
team works closely with organisers, sector committees and 
networks to conduct research, and contribute to cross-union 
policy planning. The team also supports the secretariat and 
executive board with strategic advice.

Education
Building a strong, modern and influential union requires 
our workplace delegates to be trained, resourced and 
activated. The last 12 months has been a busy period 
for the education team as membership has increased 
and the number of delegates has increased from 3483 
(March 2018) to 3595 (March 2019). Pleasing to note is 
the significant increases in youth delegates (11% under 
35) and Te Rūnanga o Ngā Toa Āwhina delegates (7%). 
It continues to be a challenge to offer training to elected 
delegates in locations close to their workplaces. 

We have delivered 154 courses (Stage One – Beginner 
Skills and Stage Two – Advanced Skills) over 16 locations, 

with 1254 delegates attending at least one course, up 
from 1160 (March 2018). Most scheduled courses are fully 
booked for the remainder of 2019 and more courses are 
being arranged to address demand.  

The content of the delegate training continues to be 
regularly reviewed to respond to the changing work 
environment. Training on recent employment law 
changes and responding to health and safety issues are 
recent additions to the delegate training programme. Our 
Bicultural Unionism course is being revised and enlarged 
with plans to offer the updated version in 2020. Online 
resources and e-Learning opportunities are areas for 
further development in 2020. 
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PSA Deaf and Disabled Network
The network was set up to enable PSA members 
who are Deaf or Disabled to come together and 
discuss their issues and to develop a plan of 
activities which supports the achievement of 
promoting the interests of Deaf and Disabled 
people within the PSA.

Our aims are:

1. Gathering Deaf and Disabled union members 
together and increasing our visibility within 
the union movement.

2. Supporting the union to develop its 
resources for Deaf and Disabled members 
and increasing awareness of the issues of 
particular interest to disabled members.

3. Involving Deaf and Disabled members 
to ensure the needs and desires of our 
communities are heard in broader campaigns 
and union initiatives.

All Deaf and Disabled PSA members are 
encouraged to join and actively participate in the 
network.

Deaf and Disabled Network
The Deaf and Disabled Network is one of the PSA’s newest. 
The network advocates for the rights of Deaf and disabled 
PSA members, supporting them to organise and be heard 
within the union, their workplaces, and communities. 

A key focus for the network is to address the core issues 
of working people with disabilities in New Zealand, with 
an emphasis on accessible housing, equal pay, and work 
and social inclusion. The network operates within the PSA 
to facilitate information sharing, and to encourage and 
support Deaf and disabled peoples’ participation in the 
representative structures at all levels. 

The Deaf and Disabled Network has continued to 
grow, with an increase in membership from 500 to 
645 members over the past year.

One of our achievements in 2018-19 has 
been our work with the Ministry of Health on 
transforming the disability support system 
through our involvement in a tripartite working 
group of union and provider representatives, 
ministerial officials and people with 
disabilities. We also spoke with 
Disability Issues Minister Carmel 
Sepuloni to ensure workers’ voices 
are heard throughout the designing 
and trialling of a prototypic support 
system that has been under way since 
November 2018. 

Network members were invited to contribute to a 
submission from the PSA to the Health and Disability 
System Review, established by the Government to identify 
opportunities to improve the performance, structure, and 
sustainability of the system. Its goal is to achieve equity of 
outcomes, and contribute to wellness for all, particularly 
Māori and Pacific peoples.

After a period of inactivity, at the end of 2018 it was 
decided to refresh the Deaf and Disabled Members 
Network committee. This led to the formation of a new 
committee to carry the network into the 2019-20 year.

Out@PSA
Out@PSA is the network for rainbow PSA members (gay, 
lesbian, takataapui, fa’afafine, bisexual, intersex, or 
transgender, as well as being open to allies). It represents 
the interests and concerns of rainbow community 
members. Over 2018-19, Out@PSA continued our course 
of rapid growth with an increase of over 200 members to 
1238 total members by March 2019. 

Out@PSA hosted a stall at Auckland’s Big Gay Out where 
several new PSA and network members were recruited. 
Wellington’s Out in the Park was cancelled due to the 
tragedy in Christchurch. We participated in the Wellington 
Pride Parade with a good turnout of members and staff as 
we declared our pride in “Being Out and Being Union”. In 
addition, some PSA members marched in the Wellington 
parade with their employer groups including Wellington 
City Council, ACC, Amnesty International, The Human 
Rights Commission, NZ Police, Department of Corrections, 
and the Green Party.

The biennial conference of the International Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA World) 
was held in Wellington in March. Out@PSA hosted a 

pre-conference meeting for rainbow workers and union 
activists at PSA House.

Out@PSA provided advice and support to the State 
Services Commission in their project surveying rainbow 
workers in the public and state sectors with the goal of 
creating safe and inclusive workplaces.

The NZCTU’s Gender and Sexual Diversity at Work 
Resource, which is part of the PSA’s Transformed 
Workplace campaign, was delivered throughout the 
country in a variety of workplaces, including the PSA 
office. Work has begun to update the resource.

NZCTU Out@Work Council’s biennial hui was held in 
Auckland in early December. A parallel conference was 
held in Wellington for Out@PSA members who could not 
attend the Auckland hui due to limited space. Around two 
dozen members attended the two conferences. Out@PSA 
activists, Caleb Gordon and Dave Hati, were elected as two 
of the three co-convenors of Out@Work.

Finally, Out@PSA’s request to create an all-gender 
accessible toilet at PSA House Wellington was successfully 
actioned by PSA management.
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PSA Pasefika

Pasefika network
The PSA Pasefika Network works towards advocating for 
our Pacific members. 

Our first National Fono was held in Auckland 
in August 2018 covering PSA and Pasefika 
strategy and encouraging critical thinking 
about Pacific issues. It was closed with 
happiness and a sense of success and 
determination for the network.

In 2018 PSA Pasefika also held its 
second regional Fono where it’s Kōmiti 
identified the focal points of the network. 
These include Gender Pay Principles, 
developing PSA Pasefika principles, 
identifying initiatives for Pacific members and 
establishing a formal structure for the Network. 

In September 2018, Pasefika sent a contingent of 30 
delegates and members to attend the CTU Pasefika Fono. 
The theme was “Voice! Action! Own it!” and provided an 
opportunity to look at the issues that are of concern for 

Pasefika people across the unions. 

Network members attended the PSA Congress which 
provided an inspiration for the network to achieve growth 

and progress in line with other networks. 

A full-day National Fono was held in Auckland 
in October 2018, where delegates discussed 

where, what and how to progress the 
network, including its structure, elections, 
and campaigns. Following this, the 
Working Kōmiti held its first meeting in 
November where it resolved to divide the 
initiatives into separate work streams: 

Pasefika and Gender Pay Principles; growth 
and engagement; and strategy. 

We have been engaging with the NZCTU 
Kōmiti Pasefika regarding events and work we can 

participate in with other affiliate unions. The network goals 
for 2019 are to continue to grow, engage with our members, 
provide a Pasefika lens on PSA-wide work, and to build 
relationships with Te Rūnanga o Ngā Toa Āwhina and other 
networks and sector committees.

PSA Youth Network
The PSA Youth Network, or PSAY, is PSA’s largest network 
with over 16,000 members – representing 22% of the 
PSA’s total membership. PSAY is made up of members 35 
and under, and is growing rapidly. Over the past year, the 
network has grown by over 3500 members. In addition to 
our membership, we also have over 650 youth 
delegates. 

The PSAY keeps active on social 
media, connecting with other 
members by using Facebook and 
Twitter as hubs for member 
engagement and advocacy.

A major highlight over the 
last year for PSAY has been 
the strengthening of our voice 
within the PSA’s governance 
structure. A motion passed 
during the 2016 Congress 
endorsed the principle of youth 
representation throughout the PSA’s 
governance structure, including the 
executive board, sector committees, and 
Rūnanga Kōmiti. Youth observers were put in place 
until a formal decision could be made at Congress 2018. 
Congress last year amended the rules to provide for full 
membership of the board and the committees, including 
full voting rights. 

The passing of the motion was a huge win for both youth 

representation and the PSA as a whole. Including PSAY at 
every level of our governance structure shows that we are 
planning for the future and for how the landscape of work 
is changing. 

 Leadership training has also continued to be a key focus 
for the network, with training opportunities taking place 

around New Zealand.  The training courses have 
been a success for young people wanting to 

develop their leadership skills, whether 
it be for within their union, their 

workplace or the wider community. 
This network is filled with 

talented and dedicated members 
and delegates. The leadership 
training courses help aspiring 
leaders channel their time and 
energy efficiently and in ways 
that inspire action.

Campaigning continues to be 
a central focus for our youth 

leaders, with PSAY getting behind 
campaigns such as Rock Enrol (to 

promote engagement in local government 
elections) and the Mental Health Inquiry. 

PSAY continues to support campaigns for equal 
pay and a living wage. In March 2018, PSAY sent eight 
members to the CTU Stand Up Conference and has held 
numerous events around the country in partnership with 
other unions, employers, and PSA networks. PSAY will 
soon be hosting 65 young members in Wellington for our 
biennial PSAY Hui.
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Women’s Network
The PSA Women’s Network aims to promote the interests of 
women and provide a strong voice for the advancement of 
women’s issues within the PSA. It strives to encourage and 
support women’s participation in representative structures 
at all levels. This year, membership has increased from 4200 
to over 5600 by March 2019.

A consistently busy network, 2018-19 has been filled with 
activities and events including supporting Green Party MP 
Jan Logie’s Domestic Violence Victims Protection legislation 
and providing written and oral submissions on the Equal 
Pay Amendment Bill. Efforts have continued towards 
furthering the DHB administration and clerical staff equal 
pay claim, including presenting a petition with more than 
12,500 signatures to Parliament.

The 2018 Women’s Network Biennial Conference was a 
highlight, with Rt Hon Helen Clark  as the keynote speaker. 

In conversation with PSA President Janet Quigley, Helen 
discussed everything from her opinions on the place for 
women in government and leadership, to ways to empower 
and strengthen women’s positions here and around the 
world.

Women’s leadership training opportunities continue to 
be in demand, with Leadership Training workshops at 
full capacity in Wellington, Christchurch, Rotorua, and 
Auckland. The workshops aim to help advance women both 
within their workplaces and in their roles in supporting our 
work towards gender equity. 

In the campaign and political spaces, we have continued to 
drive the Equal Pay campaign forward and have continued 
to lobby MPs on a range of issues. The lobby for Equal 
Pay took a creative new direction over Christmas 2018, 
in the form of Equal Pay themed Christmas Carols being 
performed in Wellington CBD and outside Parliament steps. 

SWAN
The Social Workers Action Network (SWAN) brings 
together social workers from every sector with the intent 
to advocate for, inspire, unify and strengthen social 
workers in their working life. As agents for social change 
and justice, the network provides a critical platform 
for workers to challenge issues in society that 
contribute to injustice and inequality. 

Over the last year there have been 
two significant victories. The 
first of these is the pay equity 
settlement for social workers 
at Oranga Tamariki, a step 
on the journey to achieving 
equal pay for social workers 
as a profession. This 
settlement highlighted the 
undervalued complex skill 
set that social workers are 
required to use every day. 
The network provided a place 
for the negotiating team to 
check their thinking and mapping 
process with social workers, as well 
as space to discuss how this could 
impact the wider profession.

The second was the passing of the Social Workers 
Registration Act. This Act received royal assent in 
February 2019. SWAN was integral to the final shape 
of this legislation and the PSA received commendation 
in Parliament for its part in the joint drafting of a 
supplementary order paper that fixed critical issues in the 
original bill. This was generated after we led a campaign 

against the first iteration of the bill, which posed a threat 
to the future of social work by allowing employers to 
define who was and who was not a social worker. 

We engaged in direct meetings with ministers and MPs 
and sent an open letter to ministers with over 2000 

signatures. We prepared a submission to the select 
committee and were asked to provide 

supplementary information as a result 
of its interest in our feedback. This 

led to the Social Development 
Minister instructing officials to 

collaborate with us and other 
social work leaders to provide 
alternatives. This occurred 
in a constructive manner, 
demonstrating to Parliament 
the benefit of stakeholder 
engagement.

We have an exciting and 
challenging year ahead with 

two key issues looming. The 
first of these being the extension 

of the pay equity settlement to social 
workers in other sectors. 

The second is that we face a large piece of work 
in implementing the new mandatory registration bill. The 
legislation requires a scope of practice for social work to 
be drafted by February 2021. SWAN must ensure it defines 
social work clearly and does not water down the ethics, 
justice or human rights foundations, or allow employers 
to avoid employing and recognising social workers as a 
professional group.  
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Mental Health and Addiction 
Committee
The Mental Health and Addiction Committee meets twice 
a year to represent the interests of PSA Mental Health and 
Addiction members and to improve their employment 
conditions. The membership is drawn from mental health 
and addiction workers who are PSA members from 
relevant enterprises within the DHB, CPS, and 
Public Services sectors.

Members of the committee have been 
heavily involved with the Government’s 
Mental Health and Addiction Inquiry in 
2018. Members met with the inquiry panel 
in public forums and as a committee to 
provide strong worker input into the inquiry. 
Following the end of the inquiry the Mental 
Health and Addiction Committee also met with 
Health Minister David Clark to express a desire and 
commitment to work closely with the Ministry of Health in 
the implementation of the recommendations.  

The committee met with Robyn Shearer, the Ministry of 
Health’s Deputy Director General – Mental Health, to 
ensure continued involvement in the implementation of 
the final recommendations for any redesign or co-design of 
mental health and addiction services. 

Science Committee
The National Science Committee, the PSA’s longest running 
committee, continues to meet three times a year to discuss 
bargaining and issues affecting members in the science 
cluster, and to advocate for improvements to crown 
research institute (CRI) funding. 

The committee is made up of representatives from 
each CRI and a representative from Callaghan 

Innovation, a crown entity. 

Science committee meetings have 
continued to act as a coordinating point for 
bargaining, allowing members of the team 
to update each other on progress across 
the CRIs.

Funding remains a major issue affecting 
all CRIs, with the committee critiquing not 

just the levels of funding but the propensity of 
funding mechanisms to promote short-term rather 

than long-term thinking. 

This year saw the start of a conversation with CRI 
employers and the Minister of Research, Science and 
Technology about forming a tripartite forum in the CRI 
sector. This tripartite forum would provide a setting to 
hold strategic conversations about the future of the CRI 
sector, and to develop a work programme on topics such as 
funding and health and safety.  

Progress towards this has been made through meetings 
with individual chief executives and with the minister. A 
further meeting with the Science New Zealand Board is 
scheduled for later this year. 

Eco Network
The PSA Eco Network is for members interested in 
building union activity around climate change and other 
environmental issues in their workplaces and beyond. 

The network has grown in the last year from 1014 members 
to 1143 by March 2019. Engagement has also grown over 
the year, with members becoming more active in the 
network and contributing ideas. 

In May 2018 we held networking planning days in Auckland 
and Wellington. These planning days informed a refreshed 
plan for the network. 

We started regular monthly newsletters to the network, 
which members contribute content to. 

Network members participated in the review of the draft 
PSA Investment Policy and attended a range of events, 
including a Just Transitions conference and the student 
climate strikes.  

PSA Eco  
Network
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UnionAID
The PSA’s strong support for UnionAID continued in 2018-
19.  This year PSA’s executive board committed to an annual 
donation of $3,000 per year for the next 10 years to support 
UnionAID’s overseas development work. This funding will 
enable UnionAID to develop new partnerships with unions 
in the Asia-Pacific region, and help them to organise working 
people and take collective action for decent work and wages. 

This year, UnionAID helped its partners in the Tamil Nadu 
region of India establish three new co-operatives of Dalit and 
tribal workers, win back-pay for 400 manual scavengers, and 
provide after-school education for over 600 Dalit children. 
UnionAID also established new partnerships to organise 
people working in garment factories in Bangladesh and in an 
industrial area of Thailand. In the Philippines, UnionAID’s 
partners were part of a successful campaign for health and 
safety law reform.  

In addition to support for improved labour rights, UnionAID’s 
programmes aimed at building the capacity of young, 
civil society leaders expanded. UnionAID continued to 
collaboratively manage and run the Myanmar Young 
Leaders Programme with Victoria University of Wellington. 
In addition, an Indonesia Young Leaders Programme was 
established in East Indonesia and is managed by UnionAID 
in partnership with AUT University and BaKTI (a knowledge-
sharing organisation for East Indonesian NGOs). Both 
programmes are funded by the New Zealand Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade.

PSA staff, including Sean O’Kane and Susannah Bailey, and 
vice-president Benedict Ferguson were key contributors to 
UnionAID’s fundraising events during the year. 

CTU
PSA has continued to be heavily engaged with the New 
Zealand Council of Trade Unions (CTU), with the national 
secretaries and the President attending the National 
Affiliates Council. The CTU has had a substantial work 
programme as a result of the election of the coalition 
government. 

The future of work
In May 2018, the Prime Minister announced the 
establishment of a tripartite Future of Work Forum, bringing 
together the Government, Business NZ and the CTU. PSA has 
been represented at the forum, which has focused on four 
themes: Technology – uptake and impact; Productivity in the 
Workplace – high performance high engagement; Learning 
for life – building a resilient and adaptable workforce; and 
Just Transitions – sustaining work in a low-carbon economy.

We have been working with other unions in the CTU to 
promote the concept of the state as an ideal employer. The 
Government has shown interest in the concept and there 
have been meetings with the State Services Commission 
to advance this agenda. In May 2018, the CTU organised 
a forum at the PSA involving the Prime Minister and state 
sector unions to discuss the state sector as an ideal employer.

The CTU produced a high-quality analysis of the 2018 Budget 
and its separate annual analysis of Vote Health, where it 
looked at how much funding is required for health services to 
be maintained.

Government relations
The CTU and PSA were involved with a number of the 
Government’s reform initiatives. The Employment Relations 
Act amendments were the most significant of these. The 
Government also established a working group on Fair Pay 
Agreements, producing a positive set of recommendations to 
the Government. 

Also in the last year, the CTU was involved in the Tax 
Working Group, which recommended (among other things) 
a capital gains tax, the Holidays Act review, and the Film 
Industry Working Group, which recommended a form of 
collective bargaining for contractors in the movie industry.

In October 2018, the CTU hosted a Just Transition 
Roundtable event, which included representatives from 
unions, Māori, Government, employers and civil society. 
Speakers included international unionists with expertise in 
climate and industrial transitions, ministers, representatives 
of the oil industry, and Māori speakers on indigenous 
approaches to just transition.

The CTU and Government agreed to set up a series of regular 
forums for delegates to meet with ministers, based on the 
model established under the Fifth Labour Government 
led by Rt Hon Helen Clark. The first of these was held in 
Hamilton in February this year, with others to follow. The 
PSA was actively involved and sent a strong delegation.

Public Services International 
Public Services International (PSI) is a global union 
federation in which PSA plays an active role. Made up of 
more than 600 public sector unions, we have a particular 
involvement in the Oceania region. PSI leads campaigns 
on an array of issues, including quality public services, 
privatisation, taxation, and gender equality.

Members of our board attended PSI’s Oceania Sub-Regional 
Advisory Committee (OSRAC) meeting in Sydney in May 
2018, where Erin Polaczuk and Caroline Fisher gave a well-
received presentation on whistleblowing. Other highlights 
from OSRAC included hearing from Tax Justice Network 
about successful efforts in pursuing corporate tax avoidance 
in Australia and other regional tax reform initiatives. A key 
outcome from OSRAC was prioritising women, youth, and tax 
issues for the year ahead.

National secretary Glenn Barclay also attended the Asia 
Pacific Regional Executive Committee (APREC) of PSI at 
Kathmandu in late June 2018, in his capacity as the sub-titular 
for the Oceania sub-region. The meeting heard reports on 
both regional and global PSI activities.
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A year in pictures

PSA members Nia Bartley, Judy Robb, and Nancy McShane speak to the 
union’s submission on the Equal Pay Amendment Bill.

Living wage event in Porirua

PSA Women’s Network

Xxxxx

PSA Kaiwhakarite Marcia Puru and 
Kuia Georgina Kerr support  the 
Mana Wahine inquiry.
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A year in pictures

PSA 2018 Congress

Susan Tapsell receives the Marlene 
Pitman delegate award at Hui Taumata

Pink shirt day, Waitakare Oranga Tamariki

Hamilton office staff at the opening of their new premises A delegation of South African unionists visit the Wellington PSA office
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Where does our money come from?

How is our money spent?

Note:  Excludes taxation.  PSA National refers to the National Secretaries, Assistant Secretaries, Campaigns, staff 
development and other staff-related costs (except salaries). 

Organising  
47%

Offices and organising 
support  16%

PSA National   11%

Strategy & 
Support teams   18%

Projects   1%
PSA Plus   4% Governance   3%

Subscription 
income 91%

Interest   3%
External rent   2%

PSA Plus   4%
Other income   0.6%

PSA finances
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Our reserves

PSA has a reserves policy which identifies the potential 
use of its uncommitted cash reserves.  Uncommitted cash 
reserves are calculated by cash and near cash assets less 
current liabilities and annual leave liabilities (i.e. what we 
are committed to pay in the near future).

The Executive Board and management believe holding 
appropriate reserves is an important part of their fiduciary 
duties to the members and to ensure the organisation can 
continue in delivering its strategic goals.  The reserves 

are part of an extensive policy and are a mix of fixed level 
issue specific amounts and amounts relating to current 
budgeted overall expenditure.

Details of the various reserves are set out below and total 
$17,438,000.

It is important to note that the equity figure in the 
Statement of Financial Position is backed by cash and non-
cash assets.

Smoothing 
reserve   34%

Strategic 
projects  7%

Industrial fund   6%

Earthquake 
strengthening   19%

Holiday homes   1%

Disaster recovery   6%

Major litigation   3%

Cessation of payroll 
deductions   23%

Organisational 
ceasing   1%

Smoothing reserve This reserve exists to provide sufficient cash reserves to enable the PSA to pay staff, rent 
and overheads in the event that cash flows  are uneven.

Strategic projects To fund one-off projects set up to further the PSA's strategic  goals.

Earthquake strengthening To fund bringing PSA house up to 100% of earthquake code.

Industrial fund To support members in the event of industrial action resulting in a significant loss of wages. 

Holiday homes To fund an ongoing expansion of holiday homes for the benefit of members.

Disaster recovery This reserve is for disaster preparation and recovery after a disaster.

Major litigation To fund any major legal action to support our members or strategic goals.

Cessation of payroll 
deductions

To fund the loss of income & costs to change to alternative fee collection methods .

Organisational ceasing To fund the obligations (leases, redundancies) if the PSA ceased to operate.

PSA finances
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The detail below is provided to supplement the information 
in the graphs. Full financial statements for the year ending 31 
March 2019 are provided on pages 35 to 50.

Financial Performance – how our finances 
performed during the year.
Sometimes the story of how we performed is not easy to 

understand from the audited financial statements, so to help 
to get a clear picture we’ve set out a simple table below.  

The final audited deficit differed from the ‘business as usual’ 
result due to some one-off expenditure from our reserves, and 
year-end adjustments to tax and the value of future employee 
entitlements. 

Final audited deficit (1,138,684) 

Add back one-offs:

Use of reserves for earthquake strengthening work 215,743

Use of reserves for strategic projects 382,910 

Accounting adjustment (non-cash) relating to provision for long service, retiring and resigning leave  568,899 

Taxation adjustment (45,306) 

Business as usual result – small deficit (16,438) 

Business as Usual
The growth in member numbers during the year saw our 
subscription revenue exceed budget by 3%.  Higher travel 
costs, largely related to Public Service industrial action 
and the equal pay campaign in the DHBs, led to expenses 
exceeding budget by 1%.  However, the extra income meant 
that we achieved a small deficit of $16,438 rather than the 
$401,779 budgeted for the year to 31 March 2019.

Use of Reserves
We used the reserves to undertake work on the preliminary 
designs for the seismic strengthening of PSA House.  

In addition, the PSA made the decision to access the Strategic 
Projects reserve to fund one-off projects designed to advance 
our strategic goals in the more favourable policy environment 
provided by the current government.

Capital Spending
During the year we invested $951,858 in fixed assets.  These 
included refurbishment of new offices in Hamilton and 
Palmerston North, and improvements to our holiday homes.  

IT hardware replacements included the first of three 
servers, replacement of equipment, as well as equipment for 
additional staff.

Financial Position – what we own and what we 
owe
The snapshot of our assets and liabilities at 31 March 2019 
continues to be very healthy.  As at 1 April 2019, if we paid 
all our bills and other short-term obligations to PSA staff, 
we would be left with buildings worth $16m and cash and 
investments of $17m.

The “Our reserves” graph above sets out a breakdown of what 
our reserves are held for.

Outlook
The growth in our membership, while pleasing, puts pressure 
on staffing and travel costs, even when we continue to 
actively manage our costs through careful monitoring of 
expenditure.  

We are currently reviewing our structure to ensure that we are 
best placed to be an effective, modern union in a time when 
membership is growing, and our operating environment is 
changing.

The design for the earthquake remedial work on PSA House 
will reach a decision phase in the near future.

All these factors mean that we may continue to experience 
deficits over the next few years.  However, our long-term goal 
is to return to surpluses and rebuild the reserves.

PSA finances
Financial overview
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These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense

New Zealand Public Service Association  
Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes 2019 2018
$   $   

Donations 7,201             -                
Rental Income - Holiday Homes 785,982         723,990        
Total Revenue from non-exchange transactions 793,183         723,990        

Subscriptions 21,863,012     20,680,975   
Other Income 5 1,434,034      1,611,843     
Total Revenue from Exchange Transactions 23,297,046     22,292,818   

Total Revenue 24,090,229     23,016,808   

Amortisation 8 51,415           80,927          
Audit Fees 6 33,550           32,550          
Communications and Printing 701,216         743,837        
Depreciation 9 592,901         556,733        
Lease of Vehicles and Equipment 937,978         898,779        
Meetings and Travel 3,336,888      3,006,733     
Rent and Rates 810,642         757,942        
Salaries and Wages 14,402,177     13,230,800   
Superannuation 860,993         845,496        
Other Operating Expenses 3,301,459      2,820,425     
Total Expenses 25,029,219     22,974,222   

Total Expenses 25,029,219     22,974,222   

Net (Deficit)/Surplus before Tax (938,990) 42,586          

Income Tax Expense 12 199,694         75,271          
Total Taxation 199,694         75,271          

Total Deficit (1,138,684) (32,685)

Revaluation of Property 9 -                 509,613        
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 12 -                 646,070        
Total Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses -                 1,155,683     

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense (1,138,684) 1,122,998     

Taxation

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi 
Incorporated
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions

Revenue from Exchange Transactions

Expenses

3
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Statement of Changes  
in Net Assets

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

2019 2018
$   $   

Opening Balance 20,970,580    21,003,265   
Total deficit after tax (1,138,684) (32,685)
Reclassification of historic movements 19 1,529,762      -                

Total Members Funds 21,361,658    20,970,580   

Opening Balance 8,748,867      7,593,184     
Revaluation of property -                 509,613        
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income -                 646,070        
Reclassification of historic movements 19 (1,529,762) -                

Total Asset Revaluation Reserve 7,219,105      8,748,867     

Opening Balance 1,000,000      1,000,000     
Total Transfers in/out -                 -                

Total Industrial Fund 1,000,000      1,000,000     

29,580,763    30,719,447   

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Industrial Fund

Net assets attributable to the members

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi 
Incorporated
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Members Funds

Asset Revaluation Reserve

4



Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019      37

Fi
na

nc
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of  
Financial Position

New Zealand Public Service Association  
Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes 2019 2018
$    $    

Cash and Cash Equivalents 695,461        914,009        
Receivables from exchange transactions 7 450,373        404,427        
Prepayments 91,770          112,898        
Shares 13,192          10,834          
Term Deposits 17,975,000   15,675,000   
Total Current Assets 19,225,796   17,117,168   

Property, Plant and Equipment 9 16,227,419   15,902,688   
Intangibles 8 22,926          74,341          
Term Deposits 850,000        3,225,000     
Total Non-Current Assets 17,100,345   19,202,029   

Total Assets 36,326,141   36,319,197   

Trade and Other Payables from Exchange Transactions 10 1,619,439     1,092,305     
Trade and Other Payables from Non-Exchange Transactions 10 153,363        169,476        
Employee Entitlements 11 1,273,866     1,116,801     
Taxation Payable 12 18,904          8,955            
Total Current Liabilities 3,065,572     2,387,537     

Deferred tax provision 12 1,441,753     1,476,773     
Employee Entitlements 11 2,238,053     1,735,440     
Total Non-Current Liabilities 3,679,806     3,212,213     

Total Liabilities 6,745,378     5,599,750     

Net Assets 29,580,763   30,719,447   

Members Funds 21,361,658   20,970,580   
Asset Revaluation Reserve 7,219,105     8,748,867     
Industrial Fund 1,000,000     1,000,000     

Total Net Assets attributable to the members 29,580,763   30,719,447   

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Signed by:

National Secretary:

Date:           26 June 2019

Treasurer:

Date:           26 June 2019

Statement of Financial Position
New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga 
Mahi Incorporated
As at 31 March 2019

Assets
Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Net Assets attributable to the members 

5

Signed by:  Gail Arthur

Treasurer:

Date:   26 June 2019

Signed by: Glenn Barclay

National Secretary:

Date:   26 June 2019
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Statement of Cashflows

New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018
$    $    

Cashflow
Cash from Operating Activities

Cash provided:
Subscriptions 21,863,012 20,680,975        
Dividend Income 2,670 2,305                 
Interest Income 637,085 640,389             
Rental Income 1,246,625 1,170,900          
Other Income 302,097 463,362             
Total Cash provided: 24,051,489 22,957,931        
Cash applied:
Payments to Suppliers and Employees (23,188,413) (22,690,069)
Taxation (224,765) (39,119)
Total Cash applied: (23,413,178) (22,729,188)

Total Cash from Operating Activities 638,311             228,743             
Cashflow from Investing Activities

Cash provided:
Sale of fixed assets 19,999               37,465               
Decrease in deposits maturing after 3 months 75,000               500,000             
Total Cash provided: 94,999               537,465             
Cash applied:
Purchase of fixed assets (951,858) (637,774)
Purchase of intangible assets -                     (57,514)
Total Cash applied: (951,858) (695,288)

Total Cashflow to Investing Activities (856,859) (157,823)

Net Increase in Cash Held (218,548) 70,920               
Add Opening Cash Brought Forward 914,009             843,089             

Ending Cash to Carry Forward 695,461             914,009             
Cash and Cash Equivalents 695,461             914,009             

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

6

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the  
Financial Statements

New Zealand Public Service Association  
Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated

For the year ended 31 March 2019

1. Reporting Entity
The New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga 
Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated (PSA) is a democratic 
union incorporated under the Incorporated Societies Act 
1908.

The PSA represents the interests of its members working 
in government departments, local government, the health 
sector, crown agencies, state-owned enterprises and 
community and government-funded agencies.

The principal activities of the PSA are to build a union 
to influence the industrial, economic, political and 
social environment in order to advance the interest of its 
members.

The financial statements have been prepared for the 
individual entity of the PSA.

The PSA operates all its activities within New Zealand and 
its main office is at 11 Aurora Terrace, Wellington. Hub 
offices are situated in Auckland, Hamilton, Palmerston 
North, Nelson, Christchurch, Greymouth and Dunedin.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Executive Board on 26 June 2019.

2. Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New

Zealand (“NZ GAAP”). They comply with Public Benefit 
Entity International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
(“PBE IPSAS”) and other applicable financial reporting 
standards as appropriate that have been authorised for use 
by the External Reporting Board for Not-For-Profit entities. 
For the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP, the PSA is a 
public benefit not-for-profit entity and is eligible to apply 
Tier 2 Not-For-Profit PBE IPSAS on the basis that it does not 
have public accountability and it is not defined as large.

The PSA has elected to report in accordance with Tier 2 
Not-For-Profit PBE Accounting Standards and in doing so 
has taken advantage of all applicable Reduced Disclosure 
Regime (“RDR”) disclosure concessions.

3. Summary of Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation 
of these financial statements as set out below have been

applied consistently to both years presented in these 
financial statements.

3.1 Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non- 
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 
assets.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis.

3.2 Functional and Presentational 
Currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars ($) and rounded to the nearest dollar.

3.3 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefit will flow to the PSA and revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received. The following specific recognition 
criteria must be met before revenue is recognised.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
A non exchange transaction is one in which the PSA either 
receives value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to 
another entity without directly receiving approximately 
equal value in exchange.

The application of this standard affects the PSA's accounting 
for holiday home rental revenue as holiday homes are rented 
out at less than market value.

Donations

Donations are recognised as revenue upon receipt and 
include contributions from members and associate members 
to the hardship fund and to the election fund.

Rental Income

Rental income is received in relation to holiday homes that 
are rented out to members at a rate that is less than market 
rent for equivalent properties. Revenue is recognised when 
the member stays.

Revenue from exchange transactions
An exchange transaction is one in which the PSA receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
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gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of 
cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in 
exchange.

Subscriptions fees

Subscription revenue represents amounts received 
during the year. Subscription revenue is dependent on 
information supplied by employers pursuant to respective 
collective agreements. For practical reasons, the PSA is 
unable to independently confirm the validity of personnel 
information supplied.

Interest and dividend revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, using the 
effective interest method.

Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when 
the shareholders’ rights to receive payments have been 
established.

Commercial Rental Income

Rental income is received in relation to tenants in PSA 
House, tenants holding a commercial lease. Tenants pay a 
market based commercial rent and revenue is recognised 
on a straight line basis.

3.4 Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when PSA becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instrument.

Financial Assets
PSA derecognises a financial asset or, where applicable, 
a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset have expired or are waived, or PSA has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party; and either:

• PSA has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset; or

• PSA has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

Financial assets within the scope of NFP PBE IPSAS 29 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or 
deficit, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments 
or available-for-sale financial assets. The classifications of 
the financial assets are determined at initial recognition.

All financial assets except for those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit are subject to review for impairment at 
least at each reporting date.  Financial assets are impaired 
when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria 
to determine impairment are applied for each category of 
financial assets, which are described below.

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit 
include items that are either classified as held for trading 
or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair 
value through surplus or deficit upon initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial recognition, these are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any allowance for impairment. PSA’s cash and 
cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables from 
non- exchange transactions, receivables from exchange 
transactions and non-equity investments fall into this 
category of financial instruments.

Impairment of financial assets
PSA assesses at the end of each reporting date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are 
incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, if there is 
objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cashflows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. The amount of the loss is recognised in the surplus 
or deficit for the reporting period.

Financial Liabilities
PSA's financial liabilities include trade and other creditors 
(including GST), and employee entitlements.
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All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair 
value (plus transaction cost for financial liabilities not at 
fair value through surplus or deficit) and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method except for financial liabilities at fair value through 
surplus or deficit.

3.5 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

3.6 Term Deposits
Term deposits have a term of greater than three months 
and therefore do not fall into the category of cash and cash 
equivalents.

3.7 Property, Plant, Equipment and 
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Where an asset is acquired through 
a non-exchange transaction, its cost is measured at its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, land and buildings 
are measured using the revaluation model. Under the 
revaluation model, land and buildings are measured at 
fair value, less accumulated depreciation on buildings and 

impairment losses recognised since the date of the last 
revaluation.

The fair value of land and buildings is their market value as 
determined by a registered valuer.

Revaluation is performed on a class-by-class basis. If an 
item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the 
entire class to which the asset belongs is revalued.

Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency to 
ensure that the fair value of the valued asset does not differ 
materially from its carrying amount. The valuation cycle for 
revalued asset classes is biennial.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive 
revenue and expenses and credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation deficit of the same class of asset previously 
recognised in surplus or deficit, the increase is recognised 
in surplus or deficit. A valuation deficit is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit, except to the extent that it offsets an 
existing surplus on the same asset class recognised in the 
asset revaluation reserve.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains 
and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or 
deficit.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, 
including freehold buildings but excluding land. The 
depreciation charge is at a rate that will write-off the cost (or 
valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values 
over their useful lives.

Buildings 1% - 2.5% & 6% - 48% Straight Line

Leased Assets 25% - 33% Straight Line

Plant and Equipment 9.5% - 67% Diminishing Value/Straight Line

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted if there 
is a change in the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in 
the asset.

Impairment of non-financial assets  
At each balance date, non-financial assets are classified 
into four categories: assets measured at fair value; assets 
currently available that the PSA intends to use to the end of 
its useful life; assets intended to be sold prior to the end of 
their useful life; and assets damaged or idle at balance date.

Assets measured at fair value or assets the PSA intends 

to use to the end of its useful life, are not reviewed for 
impairment at balance date.

Assets intended to be sold prior to the end of their useful 
life or assets damaged or idle at balance date are reviewed 
to determine if any indicators of impairment exist. If 
indicators exist the asset is tested for impairment to ensure 
that the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable.

3.8 Intangible Assets - Computer 
Software
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
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acquired in a non-exchange transaction is their fair value 
at the date of the exchange. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, 
excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised 
and the related expenditure is reflected in surplus or deficit 
in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either 
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a 
straight line basis over the useful economic life and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the 
date that the asset is derecognised.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at 
least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in surplus or deficit as the expense 
category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets.

PSA does not hold any intangible assets that have an 
indefinite life. The amortisation periods for PSA assets are 
as follows:

 Computer Software 40% - 48% Straight Line

3.9 Leases
PSA as Lessee
Payments on operating lease agreements, where the lessor 
retains substantially the risk and rewards of ownership of 
an asset, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

PSA as Lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

3.10 Employee Benefits
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave, when it 
is probable that settlement will be required and they are 
capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected 
to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their 
nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are 
not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made by the PSA in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date.

PSA service leave, resigning leave and retiring 
leave
The PSA Staff collective agreement allows for service 
based union service leave and associated allowances. After 
reaching qualifying periods of service staff are entitled to 
retirement or resignation leave. The entitlement increases 
with length of service.

Provisions are calculated based on historic claim patterns 
and current staff levels. An estimate is made of the likely 
timing and rate at which these entitlements will be paid 
and these are discounted to the net present value using the 
forward discount rates published by Treasury.

3.11 Income Tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expenses except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year, using tax rates at the reporting date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to the temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted at the 
reporting date.
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A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.

3.12 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised exclusive of 
GST except for receivables and payables, which are stated 
with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the Inland Revenue Department is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on 
a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department is 
classified as part of operating cash flows.

3.13 Net Assets Attributable to the 
Owners
Equity is made up of the following components:

Members Funds
Members Funds is the PSA’s accumulated surplus or deficit 
since its formation, adjusted for transfers to/from specific 
reserves.

Asset revaluation reserve
This reserve is for the revaluation of those PP&E items that 
are measured at fair value after initial recognition.

Industrial Fund
The industrial campaign fund was established in December 
2015 with a view to ensuring that the PSA has sufficient 
funds to provide a resource that will enable the PSA to 
help support its members in the event of industrial action 
resulting in a significant loss of members' wages.

The initial fund was sourced from existing members' 
reserves. It is intended to keep this reserve at $1,000,000 for 
the foreseeable future. Any use of the fund will be replaced 
from reserves.

4. Significant Accounting Judgements, 
Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the PSA's financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying 
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future 
periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the PSA's accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgements, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments
The PSA has entered into a number of vehicle and 
equipment leases.

The PSA has determined, based on an evaluation of the 
terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the 
lease term not constituting a substantial portion of the 
economic life of the vehicle or equipment and the present 
value of minimum lease payments, that it does not retain 
all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties and accounts for the contracts as operating 
leases.

Classification of Holiday Homes
The PSA considers Holiday Homes to be a non profit service 
to members and therefore has not classified them as 
investment property, but as property, plant and equipment.

Classification of PSA House
The PSA considers PSA House to be primarily an asset in 
use by the organisation. While PSA also leases some space 
to third parties, on balance PSA has classified PSA House as 
property, plant and equipment, not an investment property.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below. The PSA based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 
however, may change due to market changes or 
circumstances arising beyond the control of the PSA. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
PSA measures land and buildings at revalued amounts 
with changes in fair value being recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

PSA engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess 
fair value as at 31 March 2018 for land and buildings.

Land and buildings were valued by reference to market-
based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for 
specific market factors such as nature, location and 
condition of the property.

The PSA have moved to a biennial revaluation cycle for land 
and buildings.

Useful lives and residual values
The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed 
using the following indicators to determine potential future 
use and value from disposal:

• The condition of the asset

• The nature of the asset, its susceptibility and 
adaptability to changes in technology and processes

• The nature of the processes in which the asset is 
deployed

• Availability of funding to replace the asset

• Changes in the market in relation to the asset

The estimated useful lives of the asset classes held by PSA 
are listed in Note 3.7 and 3.8

Determination of Employee Entitlements
A provision is calculated based on historic claim patterns 
and current staff service levels. An estimate is made of 
the likely timing and rate at which these entitlements will 
be paid based on criteria set out in the PSA Employees 
Collective Agreement and these are discounted to the 
net present value using the five year government forward 
discount rates.

2019 2018
$  $  

Bargaining Fees 74,413                                      270,122                                    
Commission 157,366                                    168,704                                    
Dividend Income 2,670                                        2,305                                        
Interest Income 673,467                                    698,205                                    
Rental Income - Property 460,643                                    446,910                                    
Sundry income 63,117                                      24,536                                      
Unrealised Gain on Investments 2,358                                        1,061                                        

Total Other Income 1,434,034                                 1,611,843                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Audit of the financial statements 33,550                                      32,550                                      
Total Auditors Remuneration 33,550                                      32,550                                      

2019 2018
$ $ 

Trade Debtors 19,702                                      10,138                                      
Accrued Interest 430,671                                    394,289                                    

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 450,373                                    404,427                                    

2019 2018
$ $ 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 1,178,532                                 1,121,018                                 
Additions -                                           57,514                                      
Disposals -                                           -                                           
Total Cost or Valuation 1,178,532                                 1,178,532                                 
Amortisation
Opening Balance (1,104,191) (1,023,264)
Amortisation charge for the year (51,415) (80,927)
Total Amortisation (1,155,606) (1,104,191)
Total Computer Software 22,926                                      74,341                                      

Total Intangibles 22,926                                      74,341                                      

7. Receivables from Exchange Transactions

5. Other Income

6. Auditors Remuneration

The auditor is Deloitte Limited.

Determination of Employee Entitlements
A provision is calculated based on historic claim patterns and current staff service levels. An estimate is made of the 
likely timing and rate at which these entitlements will be paid based on criteria set out in the PSA Employees Collective 
Agreement and these are discounted to the net present value using the five year government forward discount rates.

8. Intangibles
Computer Software
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2019 2018
$  $  

Bargaining Fees 74,413                                      270,122                                    
Commission 157,366                                    168,704                                    
Dividend Income 2,670                                        2,305                                        
Interest Income 673,467                                    698,205                                    
Rental Income - Property 460,643                                    446,910                                    
Sundry income 63,117                                      24,536                                      
Unrealised Gain on Investments 2,358                                        1,061                                        

Total Other Income 1,434,034                                 1,611,843                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Audit of the financial statements 33,550                                      32,550                                      
Total Auditors Remuneration 33,550                                      32,550                                      

2019 2018
$ $ 

Trade Debtors 19,702                                      10,138                                      
Accrued Interest 430,671                                    394,289                                    

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 450,373                                    404,427                                    

2019 2018
$ $ 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 1,178,532                                 1,121,018                                 
Additions -                                           57,514                                      
Disposals -                                           -                                           
Total Cost or Valuation 1,178,532                                 1,178,532                                 
Amortisation
Opening Balance (1,104,191) (1,023,264)
Amortisation charge for the year (51,415) (80,927)
Total Amortisation (1,155,606) (1,104,191)
Total Computer Software 22,926                                      74,341                                      

Total Intangibles 22,926                                      74,341                                      

7. Receivables from Exchange Transactions

5. Other Income

6. Auditors Remuneration

The auditor is Deloitte Limited.

Determination of Employee Entitlements
A provision is calculated based on historic claim patterns and current staff service levels. An estimate is made of the 
likely timing and rate at which these entitlements will be paid based on criteria set out in the PSA Employees Collective 
Agreement and these are discounted to the net present value using the five year government forward discount rates.

8. Intangibles
Computer Software

14

2019 2018
$ $ 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 5,360,000                                 5,041,087                                 
Revaluation -                                           318,913                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 
Total Land 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 10,430,293                               10,065,002                               
Additions 673,741                                    460,622                                    
Disposals (38,882) -                                           
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           (286,031)
Revaluation -                                           190,700                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 11,065,152                               10,430,293                               
Depreciation
Opening Balance (535,382) (479,501)
Depreciation charge for the year (377,712) (341,912)
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           286,031                                    
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 18,015                                      -                                           
Total Depreciation (895,079) (535,382)
Total Buildings 10,170,073                               9,894,911                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 2,530,083                                 2,411,177                                 
Additions 278,117                                    177,152                                    
Disposals (236,071) (58,246)
Total Cost or Valuation 2,572,129                                 2,530,083                                 
Depreciation
Opening Balance (1,882,306) (1,726,073)
Depreciation charge for the year (215,188) (206,639)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 222,711                                    50,406                                      
Total Depreciation (1,874,783) (1,882,306)
Total Plant and equipment 697,346                                    647,777                                    

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance -                                           117,784                                    
Additions -                                           -                                           
Disposals -                                           (117,784)
Total Cost or Valuation -                                           -                                           
Depreciation
Opening Balance -                                           (73,629)
Depreciation charge for the year -                                           (8,181)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed -                                           81,810                                      
Total Depreciation -                                           -                                           
Total Motor Vehicles -                                           -                                           

Total Property, plant and equipment 16,227,419                               15,902,688                               

9. Property, plant and equipment
Land

Buildings

Plant and equipment

Motor Vehicles

15
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2019 2018
$ $ 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 5,360,000                                 5,041,087                                 
Revaluation -                                           318,913                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 
Total Land 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 10,430,293                               10,065,002                               
Additions 673,741                                    460,622                                    
Disposals (38,882) -                                           
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           (286,031)
Revaluation -                                           190,700                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 11,065,152                               10,430,293                               
Depreciation
Opening Balance (535,382) (479,501)
Depreciation charge for the year (377,712) (341,912)
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           286,031                                    
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 18,015                                      -                                           
Total Depreciation (895,079) (535,382)
Total Buildings 10,170,073                               9,894,911                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 2,530,083                                 2,411,177                                 
Additions 278,117                                    177,152                                    
Disposals (236,071) (58,246)
Total Cost or Valuation 2,572,129                                 2,530,083                                 
Depreciation
Opening Balance (1,882,306) (1,726,073)
Depreciation charge for the year (215,188) (206,639)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 222,711                                    50,406                                      
Total Depreciation (1,874,783) (1,882,306)
Total Plant and equipment 697,346                                    647,777                                    

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance -                                           117,784                                    
Additions -                                           -                                           
Disposals -                                           (117,784)
Total Cost or Valuation -                                           -                                           
Depreciation
Opening Balance -                                           (73,629)
Depreciation charge for the year -                                           (8,181)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed -                                           81,810                                      
Total Depreciation -                                           -                                           
Total Motor Vehicles -                                           -                                           

Total Property, plant and equipment 16,227,419                               15,902,688                               

9. Property, plant and equipment
Land

Buildings

Plant and equipment

Motor Vehicles
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The valuers have utilised the capitalisation approach for the 
valuation of the Wellington Office (yield rate of 8.0-8.75%, 
2016: 8.0-8.50%) and the Whitianga property (yield rate of 
6.5-7.0%, 2016: 6.5-7.0%). This approach involves capitalising 
the actual contract and/or potential net income at an 
appropriate market derived rate of return. In situations 
where the contract rental varies from anticipated market 
rent the rental surplus or rental shortfall is calculated on 

a present value basis and adjusted against the capitalised 
value.

The remaining properties have been valued by reference to 
market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. 
This conforms to the New Zealand Property Institute 
Practice Standard 3 - Valuations for Financial Reporting 
Purposes.

Valuation details of property
The PSA have moved to a two yearly cycle of revaluations. 
All properties were valued on a fair value basis at 31 March 
2018 by independent registered valuers, listed below, who 

are members of the Institute of Valuers of New Zealand. The 
valuers have the appropriate qualifications and experience 
in the valuation of properties in the relevant location. 
The fair value of the properties at 31 March 2018 were as 
follows:

2019 2018
$ $ 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 5,360,000                                 5,041,087                                 
Revaluation -                                           318,913                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 
Total Land 5,360,000                                 5,360,000                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 10,430,293                               10,065,002                               
Additions 673,741                                    460,622                                    
Disposals (38,882) -                                           
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           (286,031)
Revaluation -                                           190,700                                    
Total Cost or Valuation 11,065,152                               10,430,293                               
Depreciation
Opening Balance (535,382) (479,501)
Depreciation charge for the year (377,712) (341,912)
Transfer of accumulated depreciation on revaluation -                                           286,031                                    
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 18,015                                      -                                           
Total Depreciation (895,079) (535,382)
Total Buildings 10,170,073                               9,894,911                                 

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance 2,530,083                                 2,411,177                                 
Additions 278,117                                    177,152                                    
Disposals (236,071) (58,246)
Total Cost or Valuation 2,572,129                                 2,530,083                                 
Depreciation
Opening Balance (1,882,306) (1,726,073)
Depreciation charge for the year (215,188) (206,639)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed 222,711                                    50,406                                      
Total Depreciation (1,874,783) (1,882,306)
Total Plant and equipment 697,346                                    647,777                                    

Cost or Valuation
Opening Balance -                                           117,784                                    
Additions -                                           -                                           
Disposals -                                           (117,784)
Total Cost or Valuation -                                           -                                           
Depreciation
Opening Balance -                                           (73,629)
Depreciation charge for the year -                                           (8,181)
Accumulated depreciation on assets disposed -                                           81,810                                      
Total Depreciation -                                           -                                           
Total Motor Vehicles -                                           -                                           

Total Property, plant and equipment 16,227,419                               15,902,688                               

9. Property, plant and equipment
Land

Buildings

Plant and equipment

Motor Vehicles
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2019 2018
$ $ 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Trade Payables 1,619,439                                 1,092,305                                 
Total Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 1,619,439                                 1,092,305                                 
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
GST Payable 153,363                                    169,476                                    
Total Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions 153,363                                    169,476                                    

Total Trade and other payables 1,772,802                                 1,261,781                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Annual Leave 1,032,936                                 942,155                                    
Long Service Leave 80,280                                      71,858                                      
Early Retirement, Retirement and Resignation Leave 160,650                                    102,788                                    
Total Current Employee Entitlements 1,273,866                                 1,116,801                                 

Early Retirement, Retirement and Resignation Leave 2,004,786                                 1,545,150                                 
Long Service Leave 233,267                                    190,290                                    
Total Non-current Employee Entitlements 2,238,053                                 1,735,440                                 

Total Employee Entitlements 3,511,919                                 2,852,241                                 

Valuation details of property
The PSA have moved to a two yearly cycle of revaluations. All properties were valued on a fair value basis at 31 March 
2018 by independent registered valuers, listed below, who are members of the Institute of Valuers of New Zealand.  The 
valuers have the appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant location.  The fair 
value of the properties at 31 March 2018 were as follows:

The valuers have utilised the capitalisation approach for the valuation of the Wellington Office (yield rate of 8.0-8.75%, 
2016: 8.0-8.50%) and the Whitianga property (yield rate of 6.5-7.0%, 2016: 6.5-7.0%). This approach involves 
capitalising the actual contract and/or potential net income at an appropriate market derived rate of return. In situations 
where the contract rental varies from anticipated market rent the rental surplus or rental shortfall is calculated on a 
present value basis and adjusted against the capitalised value.

The remaining properties have been valued by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. 
This conforms to the New Zealand Property Institute Practice Standard 3 - Valuations for Financial Reporting Purposes. 

10. Trade and other payables

11. Employee Entitlements
Current Employee Entitlements

Non-current Employee Entitlements

 Property Location    Valuer   Inspection Date 2018
$

 Holiday Homes     
 Raumati Darroch 27-Mar-18 2,670,000
 Whitianga Darroch 21-Mar-18 1,400,000
 Carters Beach Darroch 23-Mar-18 273,043
 Te Anau Darroch 28-Mar-18 400,000
 Otematata Darroch 4-May-17 230,000
 Rotorua Darroch 10-Apr-18 1,243,478
 Nelson Darroch 21-Mar-18 800,000
 Auckland apartments Darroch 31-Mar-18 626,087
 Total Holiday Homes  7,642,608
   
 Wellington Office  Darroch 22-Mar-18 7,300,000
 Total   14,942,608
 Book Value of improvements to leasehold properties  312,303
 Total   15,254,911

16
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2019 2018
$ $ 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Trade Payables 1,619,439                                 1,092,305                                 
Total Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 1,619,439                                 1,092,305                                 
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
GST Payable 153,363                                    169,476                                    
Total Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions 153,363                                    169,476                                    

Total Trade and other payables 1,772,802                                 1,261,781                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Annual Leave 1,032,936                                 942,155                                    
Long Service Leave 80,280                                      71,858                                      
Early Retirement, Retirement and Resignation Leave 160,650                                    102,788                                    
Total Current Employee Entitlements 1,273,866                                 1,116,801                                 

Early Retirement, Retirement and Resignation Leave 2,004,786                                 1,545,150                                 
Long Service Leave 233,267                                    190,290                                    
Total Non-current Employee Entitlements 2,238,053                                 1,735,440                                 

Total Employee Entitlements 3,511,919                                 2,852,241                                 

Valuation details of property
The PSA have moved to a two yearly cycle of revaluations. All properties were valued on a fair value basis at 31 March 
2018 by independent registered valuers, listed below, who are members of the Institute of Valuers of New Zealand.  The 
valuers have the appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant location.  The fair 
value of the properties at 31 March 2018 were as follows:

The valuers have utilised the capitalisation approach for the valuation of the Wellington Office (yield rate of 8.0-8.75%, 
2016: 8.0-8.50%) and the Whitianga property (yield rate of 6.5-7.0%, 2016: 6.5-7.0%). This approach involves 
capitalising the actual contract and/or potential net income at an appropriate market derived rate of return. In situations 
where the contract rental varies from anticipated market rent the rental surplus or rental shortfall is calculated on a 
present value basis and adjusted against the capitalised value.

The remaining properties have been valued by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. 
This conforms to the New Zealand Property Institute Practice Standard 3 - Valuations for Financial Reporting Purposes. 

10. Trade and other payables

11. Employee Entitlements
Current Employee Entitlements

Non-current Employee Entitlements

 Property Location    Valuer   Inspection Date 2018
$

 Holiday Homes     
 Raumati Darroch 27-Mar-18 2,670,000
 Whitianga Darroch 21-Mar-18 1,400,000
 Carters Beach Darroch 23-Mar-18 273,043
 Te Anau Darroch 28-Mar-18 400,000
 Otematata Darroch 4-May-17 230,000
 Rotorua Darroch 10-Apr-18 1,243,478
 Nelson Darroch 21-Mar-18 800,000
 Auckland apartments Darroch 31-Mar-18 626,087
 Total Holiday Homes  7,642,608
   
 Wellington Office  Darroch 22-Mar-18 7,300,000
 Total   14,942,608
 Book Value of improvements to leasehold properties  312,303
 Total   15,254,911
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2019 2018
$ $ 

Reconciliation of the tax expenses and the accounting profit multiplied by tax rate
Accounting (deficit)/surplus before tax (938,990) 42,586                                      
Exepcted tax expense at statutory income tax rate of 28% (262,917) 11,924                                      
Tax effects of adjustments to accounting surplus
Non-taxable activities for tax purposes (6,165,785) (5,875,067)
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 6,574,235                                 6,059,390                                 
Other non-deductible expenses and timing differences 54,161                                      (120,976)
Income tax Expense 199,694                                    75,271                                      

Current tax
Current income tax charge 234,714                                    219,147                                    
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years -                                           -                                           
Total Current Tax 234,714                                    219,147                                    
Deferred Tax
Relating to origination & reversal of temporary differences (35,020) (143,876)
Income tax related to Expenses reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 199,694                                    75,271                                      

Income tax recognised directly in other comprehensive revenue 
and expenses
Taxation relating to revaluation of property -                                           (646,070)
Total income tax recognised directly in other comprehensive 
revenue and expenses -                                           (646,070)

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
Revaluation of properties to fair value -                                           (646,070)
Deferred tax on building (90,005) (156,602)
Timing difference on employee entitlements 7,974                                        12,726                                      
Prior period adjustment 47,011                                      -                                           
Deferred tax expense/(income) (35,020) (789,946)

Statement of Financial Position
Revaluation of properties to fair value (894,562) (847,550)
Deferred tax on building (588,923) (678,927)
Timing difference on employee entitlements 41,732                                      49,705                                      
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (1,441,753) (1,476,773)

Reflected in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities (1,441,753) (1,476,773)
Deferred tax liabilities net (1,441,753) (1,476,773)

Taxation payable/(receivable) 18,904                                      8,955                                        

12. Taxation

The tax figure above does not include the provisional tax payment of $4,701 made on 7 May 2019. Taking this into account there is 
payable of $14,203 as per the tax return.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the basis of calculating deferred tax was revisited and one of the changes was that the portion of the 
PSA House asset that was not leased to third parties would be excluded from the deferred tax calculation.  The complete adjustment of 
($715,691) was made in 2018.  This adjustment had the effect of reducing the deferred taxation liability and increasing income tax 
relating to components of other comprehensive income for 2018.

17

The tax figure above does not include the provisional tax 
payment of $4,701 made on 7 May 2019. Taking this into 
account there is payable of $14,203 as per the tax return.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the basis of calculating 
deferred tax was revisited and one of the changes was that 
the portion of the PSA House asset that was not leased 

to third parties would be excluded from the deferred tax 
calculation. The complete adjustment of ($715,691) was 
made in 2018. This adjustment had the effect of reducing 
the deferred taxation liability and increasing income tax 
relating to components of other comprehensive income for 
2018.
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2019 2018
$ $ 

PSA as Lessee
Not later than one year 1,174,097                                 1,204,147                                 
Later than one year and no later than five years 1,030,010                                 1,585,005                                 
Later than five years 280,000                                    117,500                                    

Total 2,484,107                                 2,906,652                                 

PSA as Lessor
Not later than one year 336,605                                    423,531                                    
Later than one year and no later than five years 590,054                                    627,220                                    
Later than five years -                                           19,503                                      

Total 926,659                                    1,070,254                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Executive Board 32,915                                      32,637                                      
Number of persons 10                                            10                                            

Senior Management 1,070,934                                 1,043,248                                 
Number of persons 7                                              7                                              

Total Remuneration 1,103,849                                 1,075,885                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Shares 13,192                                      10,834                                      
Total Financials at fair value through surplus or deficit 13,192                                      10,834                                      

2019 2018
$ $ 

Receivables from exchange transactions 450,373                            404,427                                    
Cash and Cash equivalents 695,461                            914,009                                    
Term Deposits 18,825,000                        18,900,000                               

Total Loans and Receivables 19,970,834                        20,218,436                               

The key management personnel, as defined by PBE IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures, are the members of the 
governing body which is comprised of the Executive Board, National Secretaries and Assistant Secretaries. The 
aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of individuals, determined on a full-time 
equivalent basis, receiving remuneration is as follows:

Key Management Remuneration

Remuneration and compensation provided to close family members of key personnel
During the reporting period, total remuneration and compensation of nil (2018: nil ) was provided by PSA to employees 
who are close family members of key management personnel.            

15. Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial instruments presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of assets and liabilities:

13. Operating Leases

Operating leases related to office premises located in Auckland, Hamilton, Napier, Palmerston North, Nelson, 
Christchurch, Greymouth and Dunedin.  Office equipment leases and vehicle leases.  

14. Key Management Personnel

Operating leases related to Wellington property (PSA House) where PSA is landlord.

Financials at fair value through surplus or deficit

Loans and Receivables

18
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2019 2018
$ $ 

PSA as Lessee
Not later than one year 1,174,097                                 1,204,147                                 
Later than one year and no later than five years 1,030,010                                 1,585,005                                 
Later than five years 280,000                                    117,500                                    

Total 2,484,107                                 2,906,652                                 

PSA as Lessor
Not later than one year 336,605                                    423,531                                    
Later than one year and no later than five years 590,054                                    627,220                                    
Later than five years -                                           19,503                                      

Total 926,659                                    1,070,254                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Executive Board 32,915                                      32,637                                      
Number of persons 10                                            10                                            

Senior Management 1,070,934                                 1,043,248                                 
Number of persons 7                                              7                                              

Total Remuneration 1,103,849                                 1,075,885                                 

2019 2018
$ $ 

Shares 13,192                                      10,834                                      
Total Financials at fair value through surplus or deficit 13,192                                      10,834                                      

2019 2018
$ $ 

Receivables from exchange transactions 450,373                            404,427                                    
Cash and Cash equivalents 695,461                            914,009                                    
Term Deposits 18,825,000                        18,900,000                               

Total Loans and Receivables 19,970,834                        20,218,436                               

The key management personnel, as defined by PBE IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures, are the members of the 
governing body which is comprised of the Executive Board, National Secretaries and Assistant Secretaries. The 
aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of individuals, determined on a full-time 
equivalent basis, receiving remuneration is as follows:

Key Management Remuneration

Remuneration and compensation provided to close family members of key personnel
During the reporting period, total remuneration and compensation of nil (2018: nil ) was provided by PSA to employees 
who are close family members of key management personnel.            

15. Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial instruments presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of assets and liabilities:

13. Operating Leases

Operating leases related to office premises located in Auckland, Hamilton, Napier, Palmerston North, Nelson, 
Christchurch, Greymouth and Dunedin.  Office equipment leases and vehicle leases.  

14. Key Management Personnel

Operating leases related to Wellington property (PSA House) where PSA is landlord.

Financials at fair value through surplus or deficit

Loans and Receivables
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16. Capital Commitments
There are no capital commitments at balance date 
(2018:$150,000).

17. Contingent Assets and Liabilities
There are no contingent assets or liabilities at balance date 
(2018:nil).

18. Events After the Reporting Date
The Executive Board and management are not aware of 
any other matters or circumstances since the end of the 
reporting period, not otherwise dealt with in these financial 
statements, that have significantly or may significantly 

affect the operations of New Zealand Public Service 
Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated 
(2018: nil).

19. Reclassification of Net Assets 
Attributable to the Owners
During the 2019 year there was a complete reconstruction 
of the transactions supporting the asset revaluation reserve 
dating back over 15 years. 

This rework showed that historically some of the entries 
to the reserve should have been reclassified to Members 
Funds. The $1,529,762 reclassification has been made in the 
current year.

2019 2018
$ $ 

Trade and other payables 1,772,802                                 1,261,781                                 
Employee entitlements 3,511,919                                 2,852,241                                 
Taxation Payable 18,904                                      8,955                                        

Total Financial Liabilities 5,303,625                                 4,122,977                                 

There are no contingent assets or liabilities at balance date (2018:nil).

18. Events after the reporting date
The Executive Board and management are not aware of any other matters or circumstances since the end of the 
reporting period, not otherwise dealt with in these financial statements, that have significantly or may significantly affect 
the operations of New Zealand Public Service Association Te Pūkenga Here Tikanga Mahi Incorporated (2018: nil).         
       

Financial Liabilities

16. Capital Commitments
There are no capital commitments at balance date (2018:$150,000).

17. Contingent assets and liabilities

19. Reclassification of net assets attributable to the owners
During the 2019 year there was a complete reconstruction of the transactions supporting the asset revaluation reserve 
dating back over 15 years. This rework showed that historically some of the entries to the reserve should have been 
reclassified to Members Funds. The $1,529,762 reclassification has been made in the current year. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of New Zealand Public Service Association

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of New Zealand 
Public Service Association (the ‘Association’), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the 
statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement 
of changes in net assets and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, on 
pages 35 to 50, present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Association as at 31 March 2019, and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Standards 
Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (‘ISAs’) and International Standards 
on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Association in accordance with 
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Ethics 
for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship 
with or interests in the Association.

Other information
The Executive Board are responsible on behalf of the 
Association for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information in the Annual Report that 
accompanies the financial statements and the audit report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information obtained 
prior to the date of our audit report, and consider whether it 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If so, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Executive Board’s responsibilities for the financial 
statements
The Executive Board are responsible on behalf of the 

Association for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Public Benefit Entity 
Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime, and for such internal 
control as the Executive Board determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Board are 
responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Executive Board either intend to liquidate the entity 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and ISAs 
(NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the External Reporting 
Board’s website at:

https://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-
practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-8

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Restriction on use
This report is made solely to the Members, as a body, in 
accordance with Rules and Regulations. Our audit has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Deloitte Limited
Wellington, New Zealand
26 June 2019
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